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the money I steward is part of someone else’s dreams

doing the right thing is the right thing to do

local businesses drive our communities

we can make it simpler • smiles are always free

never doubt common sense • time is a precious resource

members matter most • there’s a better way to make a difference

it’s never too late to start a good habit

change will always be part of our journey

everyone has value • families are core to our business

listen. listen. listen. • never bottle up laughter

children and teens are our future and we welcome them

getting it right the first time really does make a difference

we contribute to the well-being of our communities

others will know us by what they see

when the credit union profits, we all profit

over-the-top service can make someone’s day • we can make it simpler

uncomplicated & inspiring
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i’m drawn to stories where uncertain outcomes are faced 

with surprising selfless resolve and where the characters 

themselves are shaped by their choices. i’m fascinated when 

people and teams acknowledge that “good” just isn’t good 

enough and are challenged to become better and to do 

better for those around them. 

that’s why i find our credit union’s journey so enthralling. 

two years into our journey, First West Credit Union has built 

an exciting cast of characters, delved deeper into our storyline 

and refined our tactics. We’re discovering important players 

where we didn’t expect them, and twists that we had not 

anticipated—all as we move toward our end goal of 

redefining what it means to be a credit union here in 

British Columbia and across Canada. 

A path less travelled

Since the First West journey began, i’ve had a good number 

of colleagues in the financial services field ask me when 

we would return to “doing things normally.” i respond in a 

good-natured manner, but i’m always intrigued by the notion 

that what we’re doing isn’t the norm. 

As members, you already know that, more than any other time 

in our history, your board and management team are focused 

on ensuring we make local, common sense decisions—decisions 

made from across the desk, not at a corporate head office. 

You also know that we’re about local leadership—the people 

you did business with before are still the ones you do business 

with today. We’re also passionate about supporting our local 

communities through our corporate citizenship initiatives and 

the First West Foundation.

So maybe the way we’ve chosen to do business isn’t 

“normal” compared to other institutions in the financial 

services industry, but i’d rather work to ensure credit 

unions remain relevant and viable for the next 

generation instead of doing the “usual” thing. 

i truly believe your credit union has the ability 

and passion to make a real difference in 

the financial lives of our members, with the 

same spirit we’ve enjoyed for generations. 

As your board chair, i am extremely pleased 

when i’m able to report that your credit union’s 

management and employees are dedicated 

to doing what’s in the best interest of our 

members, whether that’s considered normal 

or not.  With that, your board has full 

confidence that our CEo, Launi Skinner, and 

the management team will continue to guide 

our organization through these difficult

economic times with the same deft skill 

they have demonstrated to date.

Journey on
shawn neumann

Board Chair, First West Credit Union

Nothing beats a good novel or a well-developed storyline on the big screen—particularly 

those epic tales where the future of a people, country, or even the world hangs in the 

balance. What I love about these stories isn’t just the unexpected plot twists, rebel leaders 

or underdog victors—it’s the journey. It’s how the characters persevere, sacrifice and 

understand a deeper purpose that moves them towards a goal. 
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What guides our steps?

if the past two years are any indication, significant momentum 

is building for our journey. As we grow and thrive in our local 

markets we consistently draw on 6 Big ideals:

1. Succeed together

2. Act local

3. Value all

4. Make common sense decisions

5. Create good things

6. Inspire exceptional results
  
these ideals shape everything we do as a credit union. 

in drawing on them, we ensure adaptability and success 

in delivering timely solutions for each member’s unique 

needs. dedication to these ideals also distinguishes us as 

an innovative, relevant and competitive organization.

Down the road

our first two years demonstrated to our members in the 

Valley First and Envision Financial regions that we are able to 

remain locally-focused, while implementing strategic changes 

for both regions.  As we continue our journey, we never lose 

sight of our desire to grow and repeat this success with 

like-minded credit unions. 

We continue to take steps towards finding new partnerships and 

implementing our unique model, and under Launi’s leadership, 

we are actively seeking out these opportunities.

in the coming year we expect more challenges, in more volatile 

markets with unseen futures. Yet, with our experiences behind 

us and our steps carefully mapped, the rewards we will reap for 

operating outside of the “norm” will surely be great for us and 

our members.

On board and going forward

to all those at First West, Valley First and Envision Financial, 

thank you for living out our 6 Big ideals, adjusting to changes, 

and succeeding in what you’ve been asked to accomplish.

i also want to thank the board and the regional councils 

for your support in my first year as board chair. in particular, 

i would like to acknowledge and express my heartfelt thanks 

to terry Enns for his board chairmanship of Envision Financial 

and First West over the past 15 years. His leadership of our 

credit union has left a profound mark on our organization. 

to our members, thank you for your support and for 

entrusting us with your financial dreams. i want you to 

know that your credit union will continue to become a better 

institution. We are dedicated to providing innovative industry-

leading products and solutions that assist as you face your 

own journeys and road ahead. 

if you have questions or would just like to talk, please feel free 

to contact me at shawn@firstwestcu.ca.

Sincerely, 

Shawn neumann
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At a glance…

work local

local identity

Credit unions keep their names when they join First West—

local brands are retained.

local leadership

Each of First West’s regions is led a by regional president 

who works with a team of locally autonomous and 

accountable senior leaders.

local decision-making

decisions are made close to members in the regions  

where they live and bank.

local corporate citizenship

Supported by local regional councils who serve as  

community ambassadors, First West’s regions take  

the lead in all corporate citizenship activities, giving 

back to the communities they serve.

work big

savings and efficiency

By working together as a common organization, 

First West’s regions save on costs, work more efficiently 

and hold greater collective influence.

greater stability and diversification

As a larger organization, First West is financially stronger, 

with more diverse revenue sources and risk  that’s spread 

out over a larger geographic area.

shared back-office functions

First West’s distributed workforce operates out of multiple 

administrative offices, offering specialized services to the 

regions in key areas like it, human resources, credit 

and treasury.

future network

First West is laying the foundations for a broad network of 

credit union branches to better serve our members.

Regional council • Local senior management

Regional council • Local senior management

Board of directors • First West leadership team
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succeed together

smiles are always free



Standing strong in the storm

in these extraordinary economic times, being able to 

confidently report strong financial performance is something 

all of us at First West take pride in. in 2011, we enjoyed strong 

deposit growth, which increased $164.3 million, or 3.7%, to 

a total of $4.6 billion. our loans to members increased by 

$289.3 million, or 6.5%, to a total of $4.6 billion. 

Our X factor

the financial success of your credit union boils down to one 

singular element that competitors can’t copy: your loyalty. 

now in my second year here, i have had the privilege to 

meet and interact with many members across our regions. 

Hearing stories of your passion for locally-based, common

sense banking reaffirms the direction our organization is 

going. it assures me that the exceptional results we’ve 

achieved in our member loyalty will continue as we stay 

the course. 

For 2011, our members told us that when it comes to their 

intention to consider us first for banking services, 78 per cent 

said they would. Additionally, over 94 per cent indicated they 

intended to continue using us. What’s more, an impressive 

84 per cent said they would recommend us to a friend or 

neighbour. these benchmarks are above the industry average 

and represent for me a strong starting place as we look to 

build upon the relationship our members have with us. 

Keeping it simple

i’m sure that most of us agree that long-term loyalty and 

satisfaction has a correlation to our experience. When a 

company values our time, makes a process easier, eliminates 

paperwork or offers more in terms of service (in-person or 

online), we value them more because they’ve shown they 

value us. We’re attracted to positive, simple, refreshing 

experiences—ones where we leave saying, “Wow, i really 

felt good about that.”

our goal is to do just that: ensure your experience 

with us each time is enjoyably simple. there are 

numerous financial institutions that offer 

mortgages and investment products at 

comparable rates. the good ones also have 

knowledgeable and friendly staff like we do, 

but where we can differentiate ourselves is 

in the experience you have with us. 

Many companies think they’re great and 

offer fantastic service, but you and i know 

different, don’t we? Great service is not 

easy and fantastic experiences don’t just 

happen. they require the concerted effort 

and the commitment of all parts of an 

organization in order to make them 

happen, consistently. 

Simply. Better. 
launi skinner

CEO, First West Credit Union

Never underestimate the possibilities that can be achieved by a group of people driven 

by a common vision to see real-life change happen. 2011 was a break through year for 

our organization with substantial member growth, increased member loyalty and a 

demonstrated commitment, like never before, to create exceptional experiences 

for our members at each interaction with us. 
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that’s why for the last 18 months we’ve been on a journey 

to introduce sustainable continuous improvement. We are 

embracing Lean principles and it’s a practice that many of 

the world’s highest performing companies have pioneered 

with great success. through Lean, we engage everyone 

within our organization to be problem solvers and solution 

creators—not just a select few individuals or a specialized 

department—but everyone. 

our aim with this approach is straightforward: everything that 

we do is aimed at making banking surprisingly simple for you, 

our members. We are striving to better listen and respond to 

you, help you make informed choices, and ensure you feel 

good at every touch point. As we move forward, we want you 

to say that we’ve helped reduce your financial anxiety and that 

your experience with us was a good use of your time. We also 

want you to feel understood, and importantly, not intimidated 

to meet with us and share your financial goals and dreams. 

We’ve just begun our journey—one that will take time and 

focus. But, in the months to come you’ll see us introducing 

changes that will improve your experience with us. 

Beginning this past January, all of our senior relationship 

banking staff were equipped to handle your mortgage 

needs plus take care of your mutual fund and investment 

needs. Simple. We’ve extended hours and days of operations 

in many of our locations where you’ve asked for it—and in 

some locations, our insurance offices are now open Sundays. 

Respect for your time. And check this out: if you haven’t 

downloaded our mobile app yet, you really should. 

Mobile banking is more than just account balances and 

bill payments. it also allows you to transfer funds between 

accounts and other organizations. Access when you need us.

 

What really matters?

You are at the heart of what we do. it’s our pleasure and 

privilege to open our doors each day for you. thank you for 

your loyalty to us—i hope you are proud of what your credit 

union has accomplished. i also want to thank the 1,300 

employees who each day strive to make you our priority. 

Without their dedication and commitment, we wouldn’t be 

the organization we are today. 

Just like our founders did over 65 years ago, we have a strong 

vision for the future – an incredible one that we’re quickly 

making progress on. Simply put, it’s to make a real difference 

in the financial lives of you, our members. i’m confident that as 

we continue to focus on creating experiences you value, that 

our success for the next generation will be guaranteed. 

i always welcome hearing from you. if you have any questions 

or comments about how we have made or can make your 

experience with us simpler and better, please feel free to 

contact me directly at launi@firstwestcu.ca.

All the best to you this year,

Launi Skinner
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satisfaction comes from working as a team

simple
B E  A  G o o d  n E i G H B o U r , 

B E  F r i E n d LY, 

B E  FA S t  to  r E S P o n d, 

B E  r E A dY  to  M A k E  t H i n G S  H A P P E n 

F o r  o U r  M E M B E r S .

act local

it’s never too late to start a good habit
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satisfaction comes from working as a team
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Governance report

As a member-owned, democratic co-operative financial institution, First West is governed 

by a board of directors elected by the credit union’s members.

the board bears ultimate fiduciary responsibility for the credit union, protecting members’ interests 

and financial assets. It shapes the organization’s strategic direction and ensures appropriate processes 

and controls are in place to identify, manage and monitor applicable risks. the board selects the 

CEO, establishes the CEO’s accountabilities and evaluates the CEO’s performance. the board also 

communicates with members, clients and other stakeholders by being accessible and reporting 

its activities through this annual report, the annual general meeting and other channels.

Board structure

the credit union’s rules allow for a board of 12 directors, rising to as many as 15 to accommodate a merger. First West’s board currently includes 

12 director positions, six from the Valley First region and six from the Envision Financial region. directors protect and uphold the credit union’s values,  

exercising judgment with honesty and integrity. they offer a broad range of knowledge and depth of experience, as well as an understanding of the 

principles and values of the credit union and its communities. Additionally, directors demonstrate business, financial and social acumen and provide 

diverse views and up-to-date perceptions.

directors must be independent from the credit union and financial services industry in general and must not have an interest or relationship with 

First West that could be seen to interfere with their ability to act in the best interest of the credit union and its members. the board’s conduct review 

and governance committee regularly reviews compliance with this requirement.

Board competence

to ensure they continue to provide an appropriate level of oversight and stewardship, the directors complete a skills and competency matrix, 

and conduct regular board and peer evaluations. these evaluations assess the board’s ability to work as a whole, as well as each director’s skills, 

experience and contributions in a number of key areas, including finance, strategic planning, human resources, legal and regulatory matters and 

more. the evaluations help the board identify gaps it may address by recruiting new directors or through its ongoing director education program.

Harmonizing board terms

in 2010, the board downsized from 18 to 12 directors. doing so offered a number of advantages, such as improved communication between directors, 

better decision-making ability, lower board-related costs and equal representation for both regions.



 

Following the downsizing, the board recognized a need to harmonize the terms of office for the remaining directors. Accordingly, First West’s 

members approved a change to the credit union’s rules that will see directors elected for staggered term lengths in 2012 and 2013. Following the 

2013 elections, four directors’ terms will be due to expire in 2014, four directors’ terms will be due to expire in 2015 and four directors’ terms will 

be due to expire in 2016.

in 2012, this will be achieved by electing directors as follows:

 Valley First region – three directors

 • two for three-year terms

 • one for a one-year term

 Envision Financial region – two directors

 • one for a three-year term

 • one for a two-year term

term lengths will be determined by the number of votes each director receives. if directors are elected by acclamation, the credit union’s rules allow 

the nominations committee chair to decide the term length for each director or to direct that term lengths be determined by lot.

Board vacancy

in January 2012, Valley First region director Colleen Lister resigned from the First West board of directors. to fill the vacancy created by her departure, 

the board immediately began a process to identify a suitable, qualified candidate to appoint to the board. As specified in First West’s rules, the 

appointed director’s term will expire at the 2013 annual general meeting and the position will be filled through First West’s regular cycle of 

nominations and election.

Regional councils

First West is committed to ensuring its founding credit unions and future partners retain their local identities, local decision making and community 

focus while benefiting from combining assets and support functions under a single corporate entity. to ensure the credit union upholds these 

principles, the board created two special committees – the regional councils. on the board’s behalf, the regional councils act as ambassadors for 

the Valley First and Envision Financial regions.

Each regional council is focused on the unique needs of its region’s members, customers, employees and communities.  their interests are broad —  

from business development, strategic planning and regional issues to community investment and identifying potential candidates for director elections.

Governance standards

First West’s governance practices guide how the board of directors functions, makes decisions and holds itself accountable. the board measures 

governance practices against standards issued by the Canadian Coalition for Good Governance, a not-for-profit organization that promotes corporate 

practices that best align the interests of boards and management with those of shareholders.

Member involvement

By participating in the democratic process, members shape and direct First West’s future. the board encourages members to attend First West’s 

annual general meeting and vote in director elections and on special resolutions. Unless they are First West employees, family of First West employees 

or employees of other financial institutions, members in good standing may also stand for election to the board or be considered for appointment to 

a regional council.

For more information about First’s West board and regional councils, visit www.firstwestcu.ca/board-governance.

Governance report continued
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Board of directors
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Governance report continued

ken voth

stewart ladyman

Secretary

paul durose

Vice-Chair

shawn neumann

Board Chair

larry stevenspeter scherleramesh rikhi

david letkemannhenry Jansenwayne becker terry enns
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value all

make everyone count

members matter most
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First West leadership team

shelley besse
President, 

Envision Financial

paulette rennie
President, 
Valley First

launi skinner
CEO, First West 

Credit Union

Jackie baron
Senior 

Vice-President, 
Governance and 

Corporate Strategy

barry delaney
Senior 

Vice-President, 
Lines of Business 

Strategy

paul von saarn
Senior 

Vice-President, 
Risk Management 

and Credit

lee rhodes
Senior 

Vice-President, 
People Services

tom webster
Chief Financial 

Officer

michele morgan
Chief Information 

Officer

bryan mavrow
Senior 

Vice-President, 
Marketing
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Financial highlights

Increased net income and substantial membership growth

•  Deposits from members increased $164 million, or 3.7% to $4.60 billion

•  Loans to members increased $289 million, or 6.5% to $4.74 billion

• Total assets increased $378 million, or 7.4% to $5.46 billion

• Net income grew $1.39 million, or 4.3% to $34 million

• Membership grew by more than 8%, the highest membership growth on a percentage basis amongst all  

 major credit unions in British Columbia

• First West also paid dividends of $1.3 million to members, bringing total dividends paid over the last 10 years 

 to $15.7 million.

• More than $1.6 million was invested in building healthier communities 

2011 Management’s Discussion & Analysis

FOurtEEN

 The following scorecard compares First West’s 2011 key performance indicators to its original targets for 2011. A discussion of 2011    
 performance results is provided under  Comprehensive Financial Analysis. The scorecard also includes targets for 2012, which are  more 
 fully described under 2012 Outlook and Strategy. 

 Performance scorecard for 2011
     
     Original Targets              Actual Results Targets for 2012 
 Loan growth 
 All loans 5.7%	 										3	 6.5% 5.4%
 Consumer loans 5.9%           3 6.6% 4.5%
 Business loans 5.3% 3 6.0% 7.7%

 deposit growth     
 All deposits 1.4% 3 3.7% 1.8%
 demand deposits 3.6%                       3 7.7% 5.2%
 term deposits 0.6% 3 1.1% 0.2%

 operating efficiency 78.5% x 80.5% 80.3%

  Capital ratio 14.0%   3 14.0% 14.0%

    

	 3	Met or exceeded target     x  Missed target
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Industry description and trends 

suggests the banks are closing the gap in some key areas. despite this, 

credit unions ranked first overall in quality of service among all financial 

institutions for the seventh straight year. According to Synovate’s 

Customer Service index, credit unions also ranked ahead all financial 

institutions in 2011 in several other service categories.

Credit unions also dominate in serving the small business market, 

ranking first in terms of financing, fees and services with respect to 

micro-sized and small business, according to a 2010 survey by the 

Canadian Federation of independent Business. 

Credit unions continue to consolidate and form strategic 
partnerships with one another 

in 2011, consolidation in the credit union system continued as the 

number of credit unions declined by 18 or 4.7% over the previous 

year. Although mergers are an option to compete more effectively with 

the large banks, credit unions are collaborative by nature. For example, 

from technology and banking systems to human resources practices 

and risk management, credit unions have a history of working together 

to deliver innovative services to members and this will further intensify. 

First West Credit Union has adopted a multi-brand model that enables 

its local divisions to stay relevant in their communities while tapping 

into the strength and resources of a financially strong parent company. 

the First West model allows credit unions to work big while still working 

local. our operating model combines the efficiency, stability and 

financial strength of a big organization with the flexibility and 

responsiveness of a local credit union. 

Credit unions hold competitive market-share positions

First West Credit Union operates primarily in the banking sector, 

which includes 23 domestic banks, 26 foreign bank subsidiaries and 

23 full-service bank branches, and five foreign bank lending branches 

operating in Canada. in total, these institutions manage close to 

$3.7 trillion in assets. the sector is dominated by six large banks, which 

compete aggressively for retail and business banking, and investment 

and financial services.

the credit union system comprises 368 credit unions nationwide, 

serving 5.13 million members. over the last 10 years, Canadian credit 

union system assets have grown at an average annual rate of 8.8%, 

reaching $140.2 billion by december 2011.

Canadians had $123.5 billion on deposit with Central affiliated credit 

unions and caisses populaires, representing an increase of $8.5 billion 

or 7.4% over fourth quarter 2010.

Profitability and a track record of exceptional service  
underpin the credit union system

Credit union system earnings for the year matched the record earnings 

of 2010. According to Credit Union Central of Canada, credit unions 

achieved this success despite a challenging economic environment of 

slow growth, low interest rates and narrow margins. 

Synovate, a market research firm, noted that in 2011, the credit union 

system continues to meet the needs of its members; however, evidence 
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Financial governance

the purpose of the committee includes:

• Reviewing with the external auditor their final audit report, audited  

 annual financial statements and management’s representation   

 letter to the auditors;

• Reviewing and recommending to the board for approval the   

 quarterly financial statements;

• Reviewing all regulatory filings and financial information issued   

 by the credit union prior to publication in any annual report or 

 public disclosures;

• Receiving reports from the internal and external auditors on   

 material issues related to internal control or financial reporting   

 controls; and

• Receiving and reviewing quarterly risk reports from the 

 risk department.

First West’s financial governance processes are comparable to industry 

standards and provide reasonable assurance to the board that  

important information is communicated to it in a timely fashion.  

this in turn ensures that complete and reliable financial information  

is communicated to First West’s members.

Financial governance is the process by which First West maintains the 

integrity and transparency of financial reporting to its stakeholders. 

this process ensures that the credit union’s financial statements are 

understandable and fairly reflect its financial affairs.

the board’s audit and risk management committee is responsible for 

financial governance. Committee members are elected by the board 

after each annual general meeting and must be independent and 

financially literate.

SIxtEEN
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Comprehensive financial analysis

BALAnCE SHEET MAnAgEMEnT

Total Assets

total assets increased $378 million, or 7.4%, in 2011 compared with 8.4% in 2010. the improved performance was primarily the result of an increase 

in personal and commercial loans to members ($289 million or 6.5%). investments and other assets grew $90 million or 14.4%.

Loans

total loans to members increased $289 million, or 6.5%, compared with 2010. the increase occurred primarily in residential mortgages, which rose 

$203 million, or 9%, and commercial mortgages, which increased $53 million or 5%.

Deposit Gathering Activities

Member deposits increased $164 million, or 3.7%, during 2011. the increase was primarily due to our focus on attracting term deposits, which 

increased 1.1% and short-term demand deposits, which increased 7.7%.

At the end of 2011, total borrowings were $446 million, which were comprised of $313 million in third party borrowings, and $132 million in 

structured borrowings from securitizations that have come back onto the balance sheet due to the new accounting standards under the 

international Financial reporting Standards (iFrS).

CREdiT QuALiTy

Allowance for Credit Losses

our combined balance sheet allowance for credit losses as of december 31, 2011 was $12.1 million compared to $12.6 million in 2010, a decrease 

of $0.5 million, or 4.2%. 

FirSt WESt CrEdit Union 2010 Md&A
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the year-end allowance for credit losses represents 0.25% of total loans and accrued interest, compared with 0.28% a year earlier. 

We believe that the total allowance for credit losses is adequate based on current economic factors and our analysis of the loan portfolio as 

of december 31, 2011. in addition to maintaining a general allowance of 0.18% of loans, specific allowances are evaluated monthly on an 

account-by-account basis. A complete analysis of our allowance for credit losses, including impaired loans, is provided in note 16 of the 

consolidated financial statements.

Capital Management

As of december 31, 2011, the credit union had a capital ratio of 14% on a risk-weighted basis. this compares favourably with the prescribed 

minimum ratio of 8% of total risk-weighted assets. A complete analysis of our capital management objectives and policies is provided in note 5 

of the consolidated financial statements.

inCOME STATEMEnT 

net interest income 

in 2011, net interest income—interest and investment income earned on assets less interest incurred on deposits and borrowings—decreased 

$0.9 million, or 0.7%, to $125.7 million from a year earlier. net interest income as a percentage of average assets decreased from 2.65% in 2010 to 

2.39% in 2011. First West’s margin remains one of the best in the credit union system in British Columbia.

during 2011, the pricing for deposits started to increase, which increased our cost of funds and led to some margin compression towards the end 

of 2011. the impact on margin was magnified by lower yields on prime-based loans, which declined because of historically low interest rates. 

Low interest rates, however, led to improved performance in the derivative portfolio, which helped to increase our margin.

dividends paid to members by First West remained the same at $1.3 million, compared with 2010. 

FirSt WESt CrEdit Union 2011 Md&A

EIGhtEEN

05      06     07     08     09      10       11

net (after-tax) return on assets

      05     06     07     08     09      10       11

0.80 

0.70

0.60

0.50

0.40

0.30

0.20

0.10

roA (Percentage)

membership growth

Valley First achieved 101% of target

Envision Financial achieved 131% of target



non-interest income

our strategy includes diversifying non-interest income, which comprises all income other than net interest income. A key strategic focus is on our 

lines of business that provide insurance, wealth management and automotive financing services. our goal is to increase net member growth and 

net profitability growth targets. 

in 2011, non-interest income decreased $3.8 million, or 4.5%, to $79.3 million primarily because of the reduction of services and billed fees through 

inUnison technology to a third party, lower mortgage renewals fees and loan fees. the decrease was partially offset by our insurance and leasing 

lines of business. A discussion and analysis of the operations and results of our subsidiary companies is provided on pages 20 to 26.

Operating Expenses

operating expenses in 2011 decreased $0.9 million, or 0.6%, to $161 million compared with 2010.the largest increases were personnel expenses, 

which increased $2.7 million, or 3%, to $92.4 million because of higher staffing levels and compensation rates, and amortization, which increased 

$1.6 million or 10.8%. Administration and data processing costs decreased $5.4 million, or 11.6%.

With our increase in assets and reduction in expenses, our expense ratio improved to 3.06% from 3.33%. this ratio is calculated by dividing the expenses 

by our average assets. it is a critical measure of how well we are able to manage our expenses as we grow our balance sheet and the credit union. 

Operating Efficiency

operating efficiency is the ratio of operating expenses to revenue. it shows how much we spend of every dollar we earn. it is calculated as non-interest 

expense divided by total revenue (net interest income plus non-interest income), expressed as a percentage: the lower the percentage, the greater 

the efficiency. operating efficiency is a key measure of our ability to remain economically viable.

in the short-term, operating efficiency gives us the flexibility to respond effectively to competitive pressures in a dynamic marketplace. Longer term, 

operating efficiency allows us to maximize financial performance so we can expand into new markets, add new financial products and services and 

pay a sustainable dividend to members. these activities also require that we sustain strong asset and deposit growth.

in 2011, our operating efficiency declined to 80.5% from 79.2% in 2010. this resulted from a decrease in operating expenses of 0.6%, and a 

2.23% decrease in revenue (net interest income and non-interest income combined). 

Management is focused on improving operational efficiency as it is considered a strategic imperative in today’s highly competitive banking environment. 

We anticipate that improvements to our operating efficiency in 2012 will be offset by additional reinvestment into our branch network. despite these 

investments, we expect operating efficiency for 2012 to improve over our 2011 results. the components of our operational efficiency ratio are addressed 

in the following sections.
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retail Banking

Profile 
First West’s retail banking group operates under the Envision Financial and Valley First brand names. We provide a full range of financial products and 

services to our members through our 37 retail branches across British Columbia.

2011 Performance Highlights

	 • Achieved the highest membership growth as a percentage across all major credit unions in B.C.;

	 • Increased personal loans by $215.2 million or 6.6%;

	 • Surpassed deposit growth target of $85.7 million by $81.2 million through our business development and  

  member growth and retention activities;

	 •  Maintained strong financial margin by managing loan and deposit growth, and pricing effectively  despite the  

  low interest rate environment;

	 • Achieved year-over-year improvement in member satisfaction due to our streamlined business  processes and  

  product offerings; and

	 • Continued to develop strong relationships with the mortgage broker community.

Additionally, in 2011, we deepened our partnership with Qtrade Securities – Canada’s #1 online broker for the sixth consecutive year – to grow our 
wealth management business. in doing so, we are keeping it simple for our members by giving our retail banking team the expertise to deliver 
investment information and advice to members at the point where and when they request these services, and ideally within the existing relationships 
they have in our branches. As a result, 135 personal account managers and personal banking officers completed mutual fund licensing in 2011, 
bringing our total mutual funds licensed team to 182 employees. our members benefit because they gain convenient and consistent access to 
investment advice and solutions. 

industry and Market Review
While Canada’s major banks dominate the retail banking market in B.C., we continue to see an increase in non-traditional competitors for deposits 
and loans. First West, therefore, must compete aggressively for residential mortgages, savings accounts and term deposits. retail banking at First West 
seeks to earn market share and to build a loyal membership base by developing competitively priced, innovative products, and services and providing 

exceptional in-branch experiences to all our members. 

one of our ongoing priorities is to keep things simple, ensuring every employee is empowered to make timely common sense decisions for our 

members every day. We are confident that our ability to leverage the strength of our local relationships and make local common sense decisions 

will continue to provide us with a competitive advantage and help differentiate us in the market. 

Business Outlook and Strategy
We expect B.C.’s economy to grow at a moderate rate in 2012. Housing starts are forecast to be the main source of economic growth in the housing 
market and moderate gains are expected for 2012. We believe that these conditions will lead to growth in consumer lending from increased demand 
for residential mortgages, consumer loans and lines of credit.

interest rates are not expected to increase until the first quarter of 2013 as concerns over the stalled global economy persist. Consequently, it is not 
expected that consumers will face higher interest payments; however, concerns about excessive debt loads continue. We are, therefore, maintaining 

a cautious balance sheet growth strategy.
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nila Jean Schwab, 
Retail banking member

Faith Gibson,
Envision member and owner of 

Mink, A Chocolate Café

“I became an Envision member when I was 16 years old. I had 

gone to several other financial institutions and none of them 

would give me a car loan. Envision was different—they worked 

to help me get the financing I needed to purchase my new car. 

Several years later, I now own my own business, all thanks to 

Envision. Envision has been with me every step of the way and 

their staff have continually invested their time to share their 

business knowledge to help me succeed and realize my dreams. 

you’ll never get me to switch from Envision!”

“the employees at Valley First have truly gone above and beyond 

in helping me. they are attentive, knowledgeable and make 

understanding products and terminology easy. When I needed 

information, they were never too busy. their smiles and kind 

words are worth more than any amount of money.”
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our priority in 2012 is to leverage the groundwork laid in 2011, which means continuing to improve processes and capabilities while gaining 

efficiencies and controlling costs by leveraging the strengths of our large, growing organization. our newly licensed staff will begin implementing 

our new wealth management strategy, enabling us to grow our business by providing more advice, more often to a greater number of members.

We will also be investing in our branch network, most notably through the opening of three new locations over the next 18 months. our Envision 
Financial Minter Street branch will be relocated to a flagship branch in west Abbotsford; our Envision Financial Scottsdale branch will expand into 
a brighter, more convenient location in Surrey/delta’s Sunshine Hills area, and; Valley First will open a new branch in kelowna’s growing rutland 
neighbourhood, complete with banking, wealth and insurance services. 

Additionally, our ongoing commitment to keeping it simple and making common sense decisions for our members remains strong as we will 
continue to equip our employees with the tools, resources and training to help our members make smart investment decisions. We also plan to 

increase net membership growth by 3 to 5% in 2012 through a focused marketing strategy.
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Commercial Banking

Profile 
First West’s commercial banking group operates under the Envision Financial and Valley First brand names. We provide financial products and services 
to our business members, from small and medium businesses to municipalities, universities, schools and hospitals to enterprises seeking a commercial 
secured mortgage. We serve businesses with a full range of financial products, services and advice to help them operate effectively, grow and achieve 
their business goals.

2011 Performance Highlights

• Grew commercial loans by $72.9 million or 6%, building on our strong reputation as commercial  lenders, gaining  

 referrals from members and strengthening our relationships with brokers and developers;

• Approved the lending facility for the construction of Canuck Place in Abbotsford;

• Approved construction financing for the university of the Fraser Valley Student union Building;

• Secured business with 17 schools in the District of Mission; 

• renewed our banking relationship with the City of Abbotsford for another five years;

• Established new banking relationship with the District of Maple Ridge;

• Enhanced existing or established new banking relationships with eight municipalities in the  Okanagan, including  

 the City of Penticton;

• Significantly improved delinquencies from 1.11% in December 2010 to 0.72% in December 2011,  down by 30%   

 year over year; and

• Managed our financial margin in a very competitive market in 2011 by following a disciplined pricing model for  

 our new commercial loans.

industry and Market Review
B.C.’s business banking sector remains highly competitive; however, First West Credit Union enjoys a competitive advantage due to our insight on local 
businesses and economic conditions and our ability to make decisions locally. this allows us to approve loans faster, deliver products, services and 
advice that meet local business members’ needs and ultimately, build stronger relationships. notably, a recent survey conducted by Synovate indicated 
that 82% of First West members rated their commercial banking account manager positively.   

Business Outlook and Strategy
B.C. is expected to experience modest growth in 2012, with low interest rates providing support for housing sales in most markets. However, growth 
in some real estate markets, such as the B.C. interior, is expected to be flat though much of it depends on the overall health of the global economy. 
First West’s multi-brand model gives us a competitive advantage in this market environment because we operate multiple lines of businesses in various 
geographic regions of B.C., thereby diversifying our risk.

in 2012, we will continue to leverage the strong relationships with our local businesses and emphasize local decision-making and insight to maintain 
a competitive advantage in all of our markets. We have already made great strides in our promise to keep it simple for our members by simplifying the 
on-boarding process for new members and minimizing the number of disruptions they experience in their interactions with us. For example, in the 
Envision region, we were able to reduce the number of forms new commercial members had to sign from 13 down to three during the account 
opening process. We will also seek to increase market share by expanding our focus in areas such as institutional deposit accounts and the 
manufacturing, wholesale and professional services sectors. Additionally, we will maintain a cautious lending strategy, while seeking growth
 opportunities in our chosen markets.
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First West Capital

Profile 
First West Capital provides subordinated debt and mezzanine financing solutions for small and mid-market companies in Western Canada, specializing  
in financing for acquisitions, management buyouts, expansions and commercial real estate purchases across all industries. 

2011 Performance Highlights

• Exceeded targets in its first full year of operations by authorizing, approving and funding nine deals.  

 Authorized and approved a further three deals that closed in 2012;

• helped finance four management and shareholder buy outs, three expansions and two acquisitions;  this includes  

 funding SydneyPluS’ acquisition of Boston-based Inmagic and enabling Bardel Entertainment to expand into  

 Kelowna; and

• Generated positive income in its first full year of operation.

industry and Market Review
As one of the few credit unions to offer subordinated debt and mezzanine financing services, First West Capital gives First West the ability to offer 
specialized and non-traditional lending services. As economic uncertainty continues across the globe, many business leaders are looking to alternative 
funding sources to achieve their business goals. With more than 27 years of commercial banking experience, 20 of those in the subordinated debt 

market, the First West Capital team is well positioned to serve this growing market.

Business Outlook and Strategy
in 2012, First West Capital is building on its success in 2011 and further establishing itself as a leader in subordinated debt financing. While the focus 
will remain on investments and financings ranging from $500,000 to $7 million, its goal is to increase the number and dollar value of deals signed.

to achieve its goals, First West Capital will expand its reach throughout British Columbia and explore the Alberta and Saskatchewan markets.  
Additionally, our expectation is that almost half of our clients will come back for follow-on rounds – an extraordinarily high number for this type of 
financing. As a result, First West Capital will continue to grow its business with current clients. 

First West Capital funds u.S. business acquisition
In 2011, with $4 million in funding from 

First West Capital, SydneyPluS International 

completed the purchase of Massachusetts-based 

Inmagic’s special library automation business. 

As a leading global provider of knowledge 

management software, this funding will provide 

SydneyPluS with great growth opportunities.

“We have long been seen as the supplier of 

the rolls royce of knowledge management 

systems,” says SydneyPluS president ron Aspe. 

“however, we also had a rolls royce price tag, 

which could be limiting. With the addition of 

Inmagic’s products we can reach new clients 

by providing entry level and mid-range library 

automation products.” 

The right time for cross-border shopping
the availability of credit, continuing low interest 

rates and motivated sellers in the united States 

were all positive factors, which made Aspe’s 

cross-border deal an attractive option. As was his 

understanding of the business environment and 

previous successful acquisitions.

According to First West Capital the InMagic 

acquisition was a great strategic fit for 

SydneyPluS. It was also a deal that would 

deliver higher value to customers and his 

company. these elements, combined with 

Aspe’s business knowledge, made brokering 

a deal much smoother for First West Capital. 

tWENty-thrEE
ron Aspe,
SydneyPLUS International

“Working with First West Capital is like working with a very astute, 

business savvy board of directors. they treated our loan deal more 

like an investment than a loan. Kristi and rob are quick studies; 

they asked good questions and engaged the company we were 

purchasing early in the process. this really helped make this 

acquisition possible. They also made a tremendous effort to quickly 

understand our business and that was a big factor in my having 

the confidence to partner with them.”
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Insurance Services

Profile 
First West’s insurance services group operates primarily under the Envision insurance and Valley First insurance brand names. We provide a full range 
of insurance products and services to our clients through our 28 insurance offices across British Columbia.

2011 Performance Highlights

• Increased property, automobile and casualty insurance revenue by 5.6% to $18.4 million;

• Achieved higher levels of client retention year over year;

• Maintained high renewal rates throughout 2011 despite rising trends in insurance premiums due  to global events,  

 including the 2011 Japan earthquake and tsunami; 

• Improved margins and established a more efficient and simpler service experience for our members  by embracing  

 lean principles to consolidate and streamline back office processes; and

• Increased accessibility through improved hours of operations on long weekends and on Sundays  in select locations.

industry and Market Review
the Canadian property and casualty insurance industry is highly fragmented and competitive with our principal competition being other independent 
insurance agencies. the ongoing consolidation of these agencies heightens competition, as does the increase in the number of direct insurance  
providers. our insurance services group offers a broad range of competitive products and services that complement those offered by other First West 
business segments. optimizing our lines of business, including insurance services is a key initiative to help First West achieve its three-year strategic  
plan goals including net member growth and profitability growth.

Business Outlook and Strategy
in 2012, our objective is to increase revenue by becoming the financial provider of choice for our members for a variety of their financial needs.  
our brand promise, keeping it simple, is guiding the development of our products and services. Using the combined strength of our larger insurance  
line of business, in the year ahead, we will be consolidating our volumes for all personal and commercial insurance products between our two regional 
brands to simplify our product offering and bring a more competitive product portfolio to our clients. this will enable us to deliver an enhanced  
product selection that provides good value while offering attractive pricing and terms for the many clients that count on us for their insurance needs.  

Additionally, we will continue to strengthen our commercial offering in the insurance business and, streamline and integrate operations with other 
First West business segments. in 2012, another way we are keeping it simple for our members is by improving our clients’ accessibility to our insurance 
services with new Sunday office openings in the Envision region. 
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Wealth Management

Profile 
First West’s wealth management group operates under the Envision Financial and Valley First brands. in partnership with Qtrade Securities inc., we 
offer First West term deposits, mutual funds through Qtrade Asset Management, full-service brokerage through Qtrade Advisor and Canada’s leading’ 
independent online brokerage — Qtrade investor online services. our solutions include term deposits, mutual funds (including socially responsible 
investment funds), bonds, stocks, segregated funds and life insurance. 

2011 Performance Highlights

• Deepened our partnership with Qtrade Securities – Canada’s #1 online broker for the sixth consecutive year – to 

 grow our wealth management business. through this partnership, we have  established a new wealth management  

 growth model that enables us to provide more advice, more often to a greater number of members;  

• Expanded our members’ access to investment advice and solutions with 135 personal account managers and  

 personal banking officers becoming licensed to sell mutual funds. this brought our  total mutual funds licensed 

 team to 182 employees in 2011, allowing us to keep it simple for members because they can obtain investment  

 advice and solutions within the existing relationships  they have in our branches;

• Increased wealth management revenues by 4.6% to $8.1 million, up from $7.7 million in 2010;

• Increased mutual fund assets under administration by 5% to $969.9 million; and 

• Achieved income from operations of $2.1 million.

industry and Market Review
the wealth management industry in Canada is dominated by the major Canadian banks. these organizations maintain competitive advantage with 
national distribution networks for proprietary wealth management solutions and for investment advisory services.

the equity markets experienced significant volatility during the second half of 2011. this volatility coupled with a weaker growth outlook for Canada 
and the United States caused uncertainty for investors. First West’s wealth management specialists worked to mitigate this uncertainty by proactively 
reaching out to clients to help them understand the conditions affecting global equity markets, which assisted our members to stay calm, remain fully 
invested in the markets and take advantage of some great buying opportunities.

First West’s new wealth management growth model, initiated in 2011 through our expanded partnership with Qtrade, is designed to enhance the 
member experience, attract new members and increase our ability to compete successfully for a greater share of our members’ investment business. 
optimizing our wealth management line of business is a key initiative to help First West achieve its three-year strategic plan goals including net 
member growth and profitability growth.

Business Outlook and Strategy
We expect bond and equity market conditions to be generally flat in 2012 due to ongoing uncertainty in Europe and the United States presidential 
election. Additionally, most economists forecast only moderate growth for Canada and the United States in 2012. Consequently we are forecasting 
minimal growth in existing assets under administration. revenues from mutual fund trailer fees, therefore, are expected to grow at a slower pace in 
the year ahead.

our priority is to fully implement our new wealth management growth model with Qtrade and continue improving our ability to provide more 
investment advice, more often to more members. By keeping wealth management simple, First West is positioned to grow this line of business 
substantially and provide superior service to our members. 
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Automotive Financing

Profile 
First West’s automotive financing group operates as First West Leasing Ltd., providing leases in the Envision region through Envision Leasing Services 
and in the Valley First region through Valley First Leasing Services. First West Leasing operates in the new and nearly-new vehicle markets in B.C. and 
Alberta to offer open- and closed-end leases for cars, trucks and vans. the nearly-new vehicle market is our niche market and provides First West with 
a competitive advantage as manufacturers are primarily focused on targeting customers in the new vehicle market. 

in addition, First West provides automobile loans through CUdealerLink, which works with 367 dealerships in B.C. to source business and we adjudicate, 
authorize and finance by way of conditional sales contracts the purchase of new and used passenger vehicles, light trucks, boats and recreational 
vehicles. CUdealerLink partners with other credit unions in parts of B.C. and ontario where we have no branch network to provide automotive financing.

2011 Performance Highlights

• Increased automotive financing revenues by 19.6% to $14.9 million, greatly exceeding our targets;

• Grew our number of leases by 18%;

• Increased leasing revenue by 15.2% to a record $14.9 million by maintaining a strategy of offering fairly priced   

 leases and conservative residual values;

• Adjudicated the purchase (CUDealerLink) of more than 2,281 vehicles; and

• Significantly deepened presence in the Okanagan region, building a strong foundation for future growth.

industry and Market Review
Vehicle sales in Canada were volatile throughout 2011 with only an increase of 8% over 2010. Supply disruptions caused by the Japanese earthquake 
impacted new vehicle sales while used supply remains low as a result of the lingering impact of the recession. Automotive manufacturers used 
numerous financing programs and rewards to drive business.

the automotive financing industry is dominated by the financial arms of the automakers and by major Canadian banks. it is a dynamic industry with 
constantly changing product offerings. drawing on its credit union roots, CUdealerLink and First West Leasing provide attractive and convenient 
financing options to consumers seeking alternatives to traditional financing. We specialize in the nearly-new vehicle segment.

Business Outlook and Strategy
in the year ahead we will continue the expansion of our automotive financing operations in Alberta and in B.C. to support our rapid growth and 
strengthen our leasing offerings, we plan to add four new positions to the First West Automotive team including a business development officer 
who will focus particularly on developing business in the okanagan, Similkameen and thompson regions.

We have set an aggressive target to increase our leasing revenues by 15% in 2012; we aim to fulfill it by providing more options for direct leasing, 
expanding our markets, and continually improving our speed and service in processing loan and leasing applications. in 2012 we will also begin 
offering commercial and equipment leasing. As in the previous year, we continue to enhance our loan business by better servicing our dealers and 
by matching our competitors’ periodic special-pricing programs.

the growth of automotive financing is a key initiative to help First West achieve its three-year strategic plan goals including net member growth 
and profitability growth. Growing and strengthening our automotive financing operation is yet another way that we’re keeping it simple for our 
members—meeting the full spectrum of their financial needs. Additionally, we are keeping it simple for our dealers because we are the only 
company, and therefore only credit union, in British Columbia that offers two financing products to automotive dealers, leasing and loans. 
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simple
WE’rE ALL LEAdErS 

WHo CAn MAkE dECiSionS 

to do WHAt MAkES SEnSE 

For oUr MEMBErS.

make 
common sense
decisions

make everyone count

when the credit union profits, we all profit
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2012 outlook and strategy 

Canada is well positioned but faces pressure from global economic challenges
Canada navigated through the global economic storm well over the past few years, but with economic challenges persisting in Europe and the 

United States, the Bank of Canada has forecast only modest growth in 2012. the central bank noted that the European sovereign debt crisis 

combined with the increase in risk aversion in the international financial markets is creating what is expected to be a longer recession in Europe 

than originally envisioned. in the United States, a more modest recovery is expected, supported by real GdP growth being stronger than anticipated 

in the second half of 2011.

this external environment and slower household spending domestically are causing businesses to curtail investment plans; although, capital 

investment in the resources sector is expected to remain strong and gains in corporate profits coupled with low interest rates will spur investments

in machinery and equipment. 

it is also expected that government spending cuts will impact growth negatively as the Government of Canada and the provincial governments 

restrain spending to rein in deficits. 

As a result of these international and domestic conditions, the Bank of Canada is projecting the Canadian economy will grow by 2% in 2012 and 

2.8% in 2013, as compared to 2.4% in 2011. 

interest rates expected to remain low into 2013  
in March, and for the 12th consecutive time, the Bank of Canada held its target for the overnight interest rate at 1%. As of March 2012, the central 

bank’s interest rate policy is not expected to change until 2013 due to the current forecast for only modest growth in the Canadian economy.

Modest growth and subdued inflation lead to a weaker Canadian dollar 
reduced global economic activity will impact real GdP growth including commodity prices, resulting in a weaker Canadian dollar in 2012. it is 

expected that the Canadian dollar is likely to remain near parity with the US dollar this year. 

in January, the central bank noted that both core and headline inflation are expected to moderate through 2012 as commodity prices weaken from 

softer global demand and a weaker Canadian economy. the central bank now forecasts core inflation at 1.9% in 2012; core inflation is expected 

subsequently to rise to 2.0% by the third quarter of 2013.

Consumers becoming more cautious in their spending habits
Canadian consumer spending is anticipated to rise by a modest 1.9% in 2012, reflecting a cautious approach amid high household debt levels

and global economic uncertainty. Canadian households now owe more than $1.50 for every dollar of disposable income, exceeding levels in the 

United States and the United kingdom. Years of constant borrowing and aggressive home-buying have caught up and with only subdued growth

in personal disposable incomes expected this year, consumers will inevitably constrain spending. offsetting some of this challenge is the low 

interest rate environment that will continue into 2013. 

British Columbia’s economy expected to grow 
Central 1 estimates that British Columbia’s economy grew by 2.2% in 2011 due to slower growth in consumption, residential investment and 

government expenditures. in 2012, British Columbia’s economy is projected to expand by 2.5%. Growth in 2012 will be buoyed by firm commodity 

prices, investments in the resource sector and exports to Asia.

Housing starts and sales to remain stable
Housing starts continued to trend below pre-recession norms; however, new home construction was likely a positive and significant contributor 

to economic growth in 2011. despite this, net gains were almost entirely in the Lower Mainland-Southwest region of the province.

Expectations that low interest rates will continue throughout 2012 will provide support for housing sales in most markets. Central 1 forecasts total 

housing starts including rural activity to remain stable, edging down 2.5% in 2012 before rising about 6% in 2013.
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Tourism remains weak
the outlook for tourist visits to British Columbia remains weak through 2012 due to global economic uncertainty, a weak U.S. labour market and 

elevated Canadian dollar. 

Minimizing the financial impact of returning the HST
in January, the Province of British Columbia announced it struck a deal with the federal government to repay its $1.6 billion HSt bill over the next five 

years interest free. this deal helps ease the transition back to the provincial sales tax and minimizes the financial impact to the province. despite this, 

the provincial government has indicated that eliminating the HSt will cost the province $2.3 billion over three years. 

Employment to rise 
Central 1 forecasts employment to rise in British Columbia by 1.5% in 2012; this will be met by growth in the labour force through both general 

population gains and a rebound in participation rates, dampening downward pressure on the jobless rate.

OuTLOOK And STRATEgy FOR FiRST WEST

Our Strategy: Working big. Working local.
First West’s strategic plan covers the three-year period 2011 to 2013. the plan is dynamic and is reviewed regularly to modify priorities and tactics 

as needed.

the plan addresses why First West exists: to make a real difference in the financial lives of members, and how we are doing it: by creating a network 

of like-minded credit unions with the size to work big and the grassroots common sense to work local.

our organizational growth strategy embraces our brand promise – keeping it simple – and rests on the following five strategic priorities and 

associated objectives that have been modified slightly as we execute the second year of our strategic plan:

1. Create a meaningful, simple member experience:

 We believe that we can stand out from our competitors—and become even more relevant to the needs of our members—by keeping it simple  

 for our members to do business with our organization. We will do this by providing an individual experience based on trust, by knowing our  

 members and by recognizing and rewarding our members for their loyalty. We will go out of our way to make common sense decisions and   

 provide simple financial solutions to our members.

2. Create a high-performance culture: 

 We will foster a culture that helps each employee reach their potential, be their best more often and succeed as part of a winning team.

3. transform into a continuous improvement organization:

 our goal is to be recognized as a Lean organization: one that gives our people the tools, knowledge and encouragement they need to make  

 good changes – keeping it simple for our members. 

4. Optimize revenue through profitable, sustained growth:
 

 We are committed to building a strong, stable credit union by focusing on profitable, sustainable growth.

5. Develop a multi-brand operating model:

 We are building a family of like-minded credit unions with the size and strength to work big and the grassroots common sense to work local.
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Executing our strategy
our operating model combines the efficiency, stability and financial strength of a big organization with the flexibility and responsiveness of a local 

credit union.

We operate as a multi-brand structure that enables our Envision Financial and Valley First regions to customize operational strategies to meet the 

unique conditions of their region. Each region operates under the direction of its own president as a standalone business unit, with its own regional 

brand (either Envision Financial or Valley First) and banking system. the regional presidents and local management teams direct the growth of 

regional business segments: retail banking, business banking, insurance services and wealth management.

Strategies for insurance services and wealth management are determined by First West to achieve synergies in program development and supplier 

relationships. First West Capital, First West Leasing Ltd. (doing business in each of First West’s regions as Envision Leasing Services and Valley First 

Leasing Services, respectively) and CUdealerLink, which provides automobile loans, meanwhile, operate autonomously under the direction of 

First West to serve the needs of our members and non-credit union members.

First West supports the two regions with corporate services and programs that promote operational efficiency. these include treasury and 

financial management, risk management, corporate security, human resource management, communications and public relations, and marketing. 

By providing operational support and strategic oversight, First West enables both regions to deliver sophisticated services and access large capital 

facilities that improve overall effectiveness and, in turn, the financial lives of its members.

Embracing our brand promise: keeping it simple while working big and acting local
our keeping it simple brand promise reinforces the following: 

• We listen to our members; 

• We help our members make educated choices; 

• We enable and empower our members; 

• We make our members feel good at every touch point and reduce their financial anxiety; and

• We are developing products and services that match our members’ financial services needs: time-saving, simple and unintimidating.

We can draw on essential regional skills and resources to grow our business, including:

• Strong local brand presence and awareness;

• talented and motivated employees in each region; and

• An experienced management team in each region.

We can also leverage substantial organizational resources to execute strategies and deliver results, including:

• the collective strength and scale of a large branch network;

• ready access to capital markets;

• the financial capacity to fund large credit facilities and strategic priorities; and

• Scalable information technology and administrative infrastructure to support strategic initiatives with other credit unions.

the external operating environment further supports First West’s growth objectives and reduces risk:

• B.C.’s economy is among the strongest in Canada;

• the Lower Mainland, okanagan, Similkameen and thompson regions are economically diverse and robust;

• the political environment is becoming more favourable to intra-provincial or national expansion; and

• Credit union market penetration in B.C. is the highest in Canada.

Objectives for 2012
First West has established medium-term objectives for its three-year strategic plan that is reviewed with the Board twice a year and the executive 

team on a quarterly basis. the primary objectives for our business, members and people in 2012 are outlined on the following page.
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Our Business 

Loan growth. We are forecasting total loan growth of 5.4%, with our consumer loan portfolio increasing approximately 4.5% and our commercial 

loan portfolio rising 7.7%. our lending strategy is to be selective to protect our credit position and to achieve pricing commensurate with credit 

risk and credit spreads. We plan to capitalize on our competitive advantage in serving the needs of small to medium-sized businesses by providing 

specialized banking and financing services, including offering large non-traditional financing through our First West Capital division.

deposit growth. We expect deposits from members to increase by 1.8% in 2012, with demand deposits increasing by 5.2% and term deposits 

increasing 0.2%. 

revenue growth. optimizing revenue by improving financial margin, increasing non-interest income and diversifying lending with high-yield 

products is an important objective. We expect total margin revenue to remain flat in 2012 because of an increase in cost of funds. We expect the 

reduction in financial margin to be partially offset by an increase in revenue from other lines of business.

Cost control. our priority is to stabilize expenses while growing revenue through improved cost management and process efficiencies. in 2012, we will 

control operating expense through procurement management to capitalize on First West’s greater purchasing power as a larger organization, as well 

as focusing on permanent expense reductions across our organization. 

operating efficiency. operating efficiency in 2012 is targeted to improve over 2011, as a result of growing revenue and improved cost control.

Balance sheet. our balance sheet strategy is to focus on loan and deposit pricing, and to strategically grow in absolute dollars and by portfolio 

segments. treasury actions to hedge and optimize our portfolio will be done where appropriate. We will also continue to focus on improving our 

balance sheet structure by securing profitable, cost-effective deposits because we believe that a strong deposit base provides funding strength.  

We will utilize securitization and borrowings to balance our growth.

Our Members

Membership growth. Building on our success in 2011 and leveraging brand awareness and other marketing activities, we expect 3% growth in 

membership in 2012.

Our People

Employee engagement. We will promote employee engagement through a standardized biannual assessment. We will also develop action plans to 

improve engagement where necessary, following the establishment of the benchmark in 2011.

Risks and uncertainties
our strategies and objectives are subject to a number of risks and uncertainties, including:

• Possible increases in the prime rate in 2012 that may slow loan growth;

• High consumer debt levels, which may impact housing markets and loan losses;

• Aggressive competition from major banks and other credit unions; and

• increasing commoditization of financial services.

our outlook recognizes these realities and the need to prepare for the unexpected.

Caution Regarding Forward-Looking Statements 
the projections and targets included in this section involve numerous assumptions. A variety of factors may cause actual results to differ materially 

from expectations. these factors include but are not limited to general business and economic conditions and changes in financial markets. the reader 

should, therefore, not place undue reliance on these projections.

thIrty-ONE
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the money I steward is part of someone else’s dreams

doing the right thing is the right thing to do

local businesses drive our communities

we can make it simpler • smiles are always free

never doubt common sense • time is a precious resource

members matter most • there’s a better way to make a difference

it’s never too late to start a good habit

change will always be part of our journey

everyone has value • families are core to our business

listen. listen. listen. • never bottle up laughter

children and teens are our future and we welcome them

getting it right the first time really does make a difference

we contribute to the well-being of our communities

others will know us by what they see

when the credit union profits, we all profit

over-the-top service can make someone’s day • we can make it simpler



simple
WE StriVE to BE BEttEr—

ALWAYS LEArninG, 

trYinG, doinG.

create
good
things

the money I steward is part of someone else’s dreams
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Our business activities require that we prudently measure and  

manage risks to ensure the financial sustainability of the credit 

union. Risk is defined as the likelihood of an event occurring that 

impedes the achievement of an organization’s objectives.

Risk management is the process for identifying, assessing,  

managing and monitoring all risk factors that may adversely affect 

the operations, financial results and reputation of the credit union.

The categories of significant risks affecting First West are strategic, 

operational, credit, reputational, market, liquidity and regulatory. 

We have established a risk profile to assess our risk levels, their 

trends and actions being taken on a quarterly basis. This framework 

includes appropriate tolerances, risk reporting and board and  

management risk policies to effectively manage and monitor risk.

Management reports quarterly to the board through the audit and 

risk management committee on our risk profile and compliance 

with risk policies.

Strategic Risk
Strategic risk arises from ineffective business strategies, the absence  

of integrated business strategies, the inability to implement strategies 

and the inability to adapt strategies to changes in the business 

environment. Strategic risks are monitored and assessed by  

management with oversight from the board.

Operational Risk
operational risk is inherent in all business activities. it is the risk of loss 

resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes and systems, 

human error, or from external events. this risk may impact our 

earnings, reputation, regulatory penalties, competitive position, or 

failure to manage other risks. operational risks are monitored, assessed 

and managed by management.

Fraud is an additional operational risk faced by all financial institutions. 

Fraud is an ever-evolving issue in the financial services industry and 

although it is impossible to prevent all fraud, we have rigorous 

controls, procedures and advanced security measures in place to 

safeguard the funds that our members entrust to us.

the strategies employed to manage operational risk include:

• establishing standards of professional conduct;

• implementing policies and procedural controls;

• Reviewing internal control effectiveness and strengthening areas  

 where needed;

• initiating employee training programs;

• Managing property, liability and financial bond insurance   

 programs to provide additional protection from loss;

• Updating and testing procedures and plans for disaster recovery  

 and business continuity with our technology systems and data;

• establishing a process for employees to confidentially report   

 suspicious activities; and

• Maintaining regular audits for compliance and effectiveness of   

 controls by independent internal and external audit teams, which  

 provide senior management and the audit and risk management  

 committee with recommendations to improve internal controls. 

Credit Risk
Credit risk is the risk that a financial loss will be incurred due to the 

failure of a counterparty to discharge its contractual commitment or 

obligation to the credit union. Credit risk arises principally in lending 

activities that result in loans to members but also from interest rate 

swaps (derivatives).

Please refer to note 5b of the financial statements for more 

information on credit risk.

Market Risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a 

financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in interest rates. 

interest rate risk arises when the values of assets and liabilities do not 

change by the same amount when interest rates change.

Where portfolios are matched in terms of maturities, interest rate risk is 

reduced. this category also includes yield curve risk, basis risk, 

optionality risk and interest rate path risk.

the primary objectives of our market risk management process include:

• Maximizing earnings and return on capital within acceptable and  

 controllable levels of the above risks;

• Providing for growth that is sound, profitable and balanced   

 without sacrificing the quality of service; and

• Managing and maintaining policies that are consistent with the  

 short-and long-term strategic goals of the board.

Please refer to note 5d of the financial statements for more information 

on market risk.

risk management 
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Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk of being unable to fund assets with deposits or 

borrowings with the appropriate duration and cost, as well as the risk 

of not being able to meet unexpected cash needs.

the liquidity risk policy of the credit union is that liquidity is managed 

on both an operational and strategic level on a total company basis.

the desired liquidity level above the statutory requirement is 

determined by taking into account the balance between the cost 

of liquidity and the yield achieved. Contingency liquidity is managed 

by having a plan in place that can be invoked very quickly, as well as 

having a diversity of funding sources arranged that can be accessed 

when needed.

the credit union will at all times maintain statutory liquidity levels as 

required by regulations. immediate corrective action will be taken if 

the ratio approaches the regulatory minimum. Statutory liquidity 

deposits must be held with Central 1 Credit Union according to the 

credit union’s deposit-loan agreement. the statutory liquidity ratio is 

8.0% of deposits and borrowings as at the reporting date. Based on 

total deposits and borrowings as at december 31, 2011, our statutory 

liquidity exceeds minimum requirements by $127.9 million.

Please refer to note 5c of the financial statements for more information 

on liquidity risk.

Regulatory Risk
regulatory risk is the risk of negative impact to our earnings or 

reputation as a result of failure to comply with or adapt to legal and 

regulatory requirements, industry practices, or ethical standards.

our operations are governed by various acts and regulations, and 

we are expected to meet a high standard in business dealings 

and transactions.

Senior management has identified First West’s legal and regulatory 

requirements, developed appropriate compliance policies and 

assigned responsibility for meeting these policies. Senior management 

also engages external legal counsel to assist in identifying areas of 

potential regulatory risk and establishes processes to manage 

these risks.

our Standards of Professional Conduct contain guidance for all 

employees on identifying actions that may have a legal impact on 

the organization.

Reputational Risk 
reputational risk arises from a deterioration of reputation with 

stakeholders, such as members, employees, the media, rating agencies 

and regulators that could cause a decline in the credit union’s value, 

brand, liquidity or member base. An organization’s reputation is a 

valuable business asset. Consequently, we manage reputation risk in 

all aspects of our business.  

First West remains in a strong position despite continued turmoil in 

the global economy. We occupy a stable place in the one of the world’s 

most secure, well-managed, carefully regulated, financially sound 

economies; the Canadian financial services industry continues to be 

the envy of the world.  First West maintains a prudent and conservative 

business approach that will stand us in good stead despite global 

economic instability.

First West uses various means to ensure sound reputation risk 

management, including governance practices, awareness sessions 

and its enterprise wide risk management framework. officers and 

employees are required to perform their duties in accordance with 

these practices and the organization’s values.

Whistleblower Policy 
the board of directors together with management is committed to 

maintaining an atmosphere at First West Credit Union that empowers 

employees to report any suspected wrongdoing without fear of 

recrimination. We recognize our fiduciary responsibility under the 

Financial institutions Act of British Columbia and its regulations to 

ensure that the conduct of our personnel upholds ethical and legal 

obligations. our personnel shall act honestly, in good faith, and in 

the best interests of the financial institution. 

A whistleblower policy and process is in place which gives all 

employees, officers and directors the ability to report wrongdoing 

or suspected wrongdoing without fear of victimization, subsequent 

discrimination or disadvantage. First West’s whistleblower policy 

encourages and enables employees, officers and directors to raise 

serious concerns rather than overlook a potential problem. First West 

is proud of its reputation; our whistleblower policy ensures that 

substantial and adequate resources are put into investigating any 

report of wrongdoing or suspected wrongdoing.
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          Audited                                      Unaudited, proforma combined performance

($ in thousands)                                        % Growth  2011  2010  2009  2008  2007
  

Consolidated Balance Sheet           

Cash resources  162%  202,522  77,304   194,069  195,127  170,075

Personal loans  6.6%  3,467,433  3,252,189   2,951,517  2,813,739  2,780,218

Business loans  6.0%  1,280,109  1,207,186   1,108,077  1,125,981  1,010,475

Accrued interest  8.3%  8,194   7,569    7,008  7,391  7,611

Allowance for credit losses  (4.2%)  (12,102)   (12,636)   (16,419)   (17,716)   (13,172)

total Loans  6.5%  4,743,634   4,454,308    4,050,183   3,929,395   3,785,132 

investments and other  (6.8%)  466,452   500,624    376,073  351,404  295,273

Premises and equipment  (4.6%)  46,338   48,583    52,478  48,600  47,659

totAL ASSEtS  7.4%  5,458,946   5,080,819    4,672,803   4,524,526   4,298,139  

demand deposits  7.7%  1,294,388  1,202,024   1,203,954  1,087,668  1,048,464

term deposits  1.1%  2,569,089  2,541,308   2,377,079  2,353,032  2,146,925

registered savings plans  7.7%  697,824  648,019   573,319  574,727  525,980

Class A shares  (8.3%)  6,522  7,116   7,554  7,422  7,523

Accrued interest and dividends  (12.7%)  34,588   39,628    34,439  49,943  48,037

total deposits  3.7%  4,602,411   4,438,095    4,196,345   4,072,792   3,776,929 

Payables and accruals  (16.8%)  51,066   61,363    48,384  70,180  64,173

Borrowings  70.6%  445,868  261,310   146,296  139,716  248,845

totAL LiABiLitiES  7.1%  5,099,345   4,760,768    194,680    209,896    313,018 

Equity shares  (9.0%)  43,961   48,300    52,368  37,694  38,624

Accumulated and other comprehensive income 111.1%  20,756   9,830    6,351  12,359  (5,645)

Contributed surplus  –%  57,957   57,957   –    –  – 

retained earnings                                        16.2%   236,927   203,964    223,059  191,723  175,213

    7.4%  5,458,946   5,080,819    4,672,803    4,524,464    4,298,139   

Allowance for Credit Losses            

opening balance  6.3%  12,636  11,883   17,716  13,172  12,559

Less: write-offs  34.3%  4,284  3,189   4,271  1,504  1,265

Plus: provision  (4.9%)  3,750  3,942   2,974  6,048  1,878

Closing balance  (4.2%)  12,102  12,636   16,419   17,716   13,172

Financial highlights 
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          Audited                                      Unaudited, proforma combined performance

($ in thousands)                                        % Growth  2011  2010  2009  2008  2007
  

Consolidated Statements of income           

interest income  6.1%  219,823   207,168    195,259  218,478  224,915

interest expense  16.8%  94,094  80,537   101,363  137,426  132,383

net interest income  (0.7%)  125,729   126,631    93,896                     81,052             92,532  

Provision for credit losses  (4.9%)   (3,750)  (3,942)   (2,974)   (6,048)   (1,878)

non-interest income  (4.5%)  79,315   83,087    89,773  80,734  56,289

operating margin   (2.2%)  201,294   205,776    180,695   155,738   146,943 

operating expense  (0.6%)  161,314   162,241    143,518  135,051  122,932

net income before unusual item 

     and income taxes  (8.2%)   39,980   43,535    37,177   20,687   24,011 

income taxes  (45.3%)  5,978   10,923    5,232  2,786  4,989

net income  4.3%  34,002   32,612    31,945   17,901   19,022  

Financial Statistics (expressed as %)

Asset growth     7.4  8.7  3.3  5.3  13.6

Loan growth     6.5  10.0  3.1  3.8  13.8

deposit growth     3.7  5.8  3.0  7.8  14.6

operating efficiency     80.5  79.2  79.8  87.2  83.9

Percent of average assets       

net interest income     2.39  2.60  2.04  1.84  2.29

other income      1.51  1.70  1.95  1.83  1.39

operating expense     3.06  3.33  3.12  3.06  3.04

operating return on assets     0.76  0.89  0.81  0.47  0.59

net (after-tax) return on average assets     0.65  0.67  0.69  0.41  0.47

Other Statistics

retail branches     37  37  37  36  34

insurance offices     28  30  30  29  28

Mutual funds under administration ($ in thousands)    969,865  923,512   790,128   669,880   771,641

Loans under administration ($ in thousands)    186,014  252,733   510,171   859,617   864,450  

Book of business ($ in thousands)     10,501,924  10,068,648   9,533,229   9,514,922   9,183,341  

Average assets ($ in thousands)     5,269,883  4,876,811   4,598,665   4,411,333   4,041,164  
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simple
WE ACHiEVE EXCEPtionAL rESULtS

tHroUGH inSPirAtionAL LEAdErSHiP 

And A BELiEF in tHE PoWEr oF PEoPLE.

inspire
exceptional 
results

exceptional results

make everyone count

everyone has value
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The accompanying statements of First West Credit Union have been prepared by management, which is responsible for their integrity, objectivity, and reliability as well as  
for selecting appropriate accounting policies that are consistent with generally accepted accounting principles in Canada. The financial statements necessarily include some 
amounts that are based on estimates and judgments of management with appropriate consideration to materiality. 

The financial information presented elsewhere in this Annual Report is consistent with the information in the financial statements, unless otherwise noted.

The credit union’s accounting and internal control systems and supporting procedures are designed and maintained to provide reasonable assurance that financial records are 
complete, reliable, and accurate and that assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorized use or disposition. The procedures include training and selection of qualified 
staff, the establishment of an organizational structure that provides a well-defined division of responsibilities, and accountability for performance. In addition, the systems include 
policies and standards of business conducted that are communicated throughout the organization to prevent conflicts of interest and unauthorized disclosure of information.

The credit union’s Board of Directors, acting through its Audit and Risk Management Committee composed of directors, oversees management’s responsibilities for the financial 
reporting and internal control systems. Our external auditors review our systems and periodically are asked to undertake in-depth system reviews of specific functional operations.

The Provincial Superintendents of Financial Institutions may conduct an examination and make such inquiries into the affairs of the credit union as they may deem necessary 
to satisfy themselves that the provisions of the appropriate legislation are being duly observed and that the credit union is in sound financial condition.

KPMG LLP, the independent auditors appointed by the members, have examined our financial statements and issued their report, which follows. The auditors have full and 
complete access to, and meet periodically with, the Audit Committee to discuss their audit and matters arising therefrom.

Launi Skinner                        Thomas Webster
Chief Executive Officer                Chief Financial Officer

To the Members of First West Credit Union

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of First West Credit Union, which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at 
December 31, 2011, December 31, 2010 and January 1, 2010, the consolidated statements of profit or loss, comprehensive income, changes in members’ equity and cash flows 
for the years ended December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010, and notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, 
and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally 
accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend 
on our judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk 
assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating 
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the 
consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of First West Credit Union as at December 31, 2011, 
December 31, 2010 and January 1, 2010, and its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2011 and December 31, 
2010 in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Chartered Accountants
March 12, 2012
Vancouver, Canada

Management’s responsibility

Independent auditors’ report
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    December 31,  December 31,  January 1,

    2011  2010  2010

ASSETS:

Cash resources (Note 14) $ 202,522 $ 77,304 $ 94,345 

Derivative assets (Note 15)  22,999   10,041   4,538

Loans to members (Note 16)  4,743,634   4,454,308   4,056,901

Investments (Note 17)  372,009   421,440   413,563 

Premises and equipment (Note 18)  46,338   48,583   51,312

Intangible assets (Note 19)  28,734   27,272   26,347
   

Deferred tax assets (Note 13)  3,162   2,929   _

Other assets (Note 20)  39,548   38,942   39,585

   $ 5,458,946  $  5,080,819  $  4,686,591

LIABILITIES AND MEMBERS’ EqUITy:

Derivative liabilities (Note 15) $ –  $  –  $  6,187

Deposits from members (Note 21)  4,602,411   4,438,095   4,200,323 

Borrowings (Note 23)  445,868   261,310   146,296 

Deferred tax liabilities (Note 13)  7,349   6,809   4,228

Other liabilities (Note 22)  43,717   54,554   41,163

    5,099,345   4,760,768   4,398,197

MEMBERS’ EqUITy:

Equity shares (Note 24)  43,961   48,300   52,757 

Contributed surplus   57,957   57,957   57,957

Retained earnings  236,927   203,964   172,700 

Accumulated other comprehensive income (“AOCI”)  20,756   9,830   4,980

    359,601   320,051   288,394

   $ 5,458,946  $  5,080,819  $  4,686,591

Commitments and contingencies (Note 26)

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Shawn Neumann,  Henry Jansen, 

Director Director

Consolidated statements of financial position

FIRST WEST CREDIT UNION
(in thousands of dollars)

forty



Consolidated statements of financial position Consolidated statements of profit or loss

    2011  2010

Interest income

 Loans $ 195,678  $  182,323

 Cash resources and investments  24,145   24,845

    219,823   207,168

Interest expense

 Deposits  84,404   76,892

  Borrowings  9,690   3,645

    94,094   80,537

Net interest income (Note 8)  125,729   126,631

Provision for credit losses (Note 16)  3,750   3,942

    121,979   122,689

Fee and commission income (Note 9)  52,752   54,679

Other income (Note 10)  26,563   28,408

    201,294   205,776

Personnel expenses (Note 11)  92,406   89,678

Depreciation and amortization   16,340   14,749 

Other expenses (Note 12)  52,568   57,814

    161,314   162,241

Profit before income tax expense  39,980   43,535

Income tax expense (Note 13)  5,978   10,923 

Profit for the year $ 34,002 $ 32,612

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.

FIRST WEST CREDIT UNION
year Ended December 31 (in thousands of dollars)
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Consolidated statements of comprehensive income

    2011  2010

Profit for the year $ 34,002 $ 32,612

Other comprehensive income (loss), net of income tax

Hedging reserve (cash flow hedges):

 Effective portion of changes in fair value 

 (net of income tax of $3,488; 2010: $1,542)  14,864   8,737

 Net amount transferred to profit or loss

 (net of income tax of ($908); 2010: ($756))  (3,873)   (3,995)

 

Fair value reserve (available-for-sale financial assets):

 Net change in fair value

 (net of income tax of ($15); 2010: $19)  (65)   108

 Net amount transferred to profit or loss   –    –

Total other comprehensive income, net of income tax  10,926   4,850

Comprehensive income $ 44,928 $ 37,462

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.

FIRST WEST CREDIT UNION
year Ended December 31 (in thousands of dollars)
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Consolidated statement of changes in members’ equity

                                                                                                                                                                                            AOCI 

    Equity    Hedging    Fair value        Contributed   Retained   Total
    shares   reserve    reserve    surplus   earnings  

Balance at January 1, 2010   52,757   5,103   (123)   57,957   172,700   288,394 

Profit for the year   –   –   –   –   32,612   32,612

Other comprehensive income (loss), net of income tax

Hedging reserve (cash flow hedges):

 Effective portion of changes in fair value   –   8,737  –   –   –   8,737

 Net amount transferred to profit or loss   –   (3,995)   –  –   –   (3,995)

Fair value reserve (available-for-sale financial assets):

 Net change in fair value   –   –   108   –   –   108

Total other comprehensive income   –  4,742   108   –  –   4,850

Total comprehensive income for the year   –   4,742   108   –  32,612   37,462

Contributions by and distribution to members

Dividends, net of tax related savings  –   –  –   –   (1,348)   (1,348)

Redemptions of equity shares   (4,457)   –  –   –   –   (4,457)

    (4,457)   –   –   –   (1,348)   (5,805)

Balance at December 31, 2010  48,300   9,845   (15)   57,957   203,964   320,051

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.

FIRST WEST CREDIT UNION
(in thousands of dollars)
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Consolidated statement of changes in members’ equity

                                                                                                                                                                                            AOCI 

    Equity    Hedging    Fair value        Contributed   Retained   Total
    shares   reserve    reserve    surplus   earnings  

Balance at January 1, 2011   48,300   9,845   (15)   57,957   203,964   320,051 

Profit for the year   –   –   –   –   34,002   34,002

Other comprehensive income (loss), net of income tax

Hedging reserve (cash flow hedges):

 Effective portion of changes in fair value   –   14,864  –   –   –   14,864

 Net amount transferred to profit or loss   –   (3,873)   –  –   –   ((3,873)

Fair value reserve (available-for-sale financial assets):

 Net change in fair value   –   –  (65)  –   –    (65)

Total other comprehensive income   –  10,991  (65)   –  –    10,926

Total comprehensive income for the year   –   10,991  (65)  –  34,002   44,928

Contributions by and distribution to members

Dividends, net of tax related savings  –   –  –   –   (1,039)   (1,039)

Redemptions of equity shares   (4,339)   –  –   –   –   (4,339)

    (4,339)   –   –   –   (1,039)   (5,378)

Balance at December 31, 2011  43,961   20,836  (80)   57,957   236,927  359,601

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.

FIRST WEST CREDIT UNION
(in thousands of dollars)
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Consolidated statements of cash flows

    2011  2010

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit for the year $ 34,002 $ 32,612

Adjustments for:

 Provision for credit losses   3,750   3,942

 Depreciation and amortization   16,340   14,749

 Net interest income   (125,729)   (126,631)

 Income tax expense   5,978   10,923

 Other   (9,769)   7,638

 Changes in derivative, net   328   (6,403)

 Changes in loans to members   (288,167)   (397,662)

 Changes in other assets   (606)   109

 Changes in deposits from members   169,356   232,194

 Changes in equity shares   (4,339)   (4,457)

 Changes in other liabilities   (6,117)   6,352

 Interest received   219,198   206,607

 Interest paid   (91,942)   (86,496)

 Dividends paid   (1,295)   (1,348)

 Income tax paid   (11,115)   (3,686)

Net cash used in operating activities   (90,127)   (111,557)

Cash flows from investing activities

 Acquisition of investments   (26,942)   (30,425)

 Proceeds from sale of investments   65,955   13,713

 Acquisition of premises and equipment, net   (1,965)   (2,067)

 Acquisition of intangibles, net   (3,172)   (2,375)

Net cash from (used in) investing activities   33,876   (21,154)

Cash flows from financing activities

 Proceeds from borrowing   317,139   260,670

 Repayment of borrowings   (135,670)   (145,000)

Net cash flows from financing activities  181,469   115,670

Net (decrease) increase in cash resources   125,218   (17,041)

Cash resources, beginning of year   77,304   94,345

Cash resources, end of year $ 202,522 $ 77,304

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.

FIRST WEST CREDIT UNION
year Ended December 31 (in thousands of dollars)
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notes to the consolidated financial statements

1.  RePORtINg eNtIty

First West Credit Union (the “Credit Union”) is domiciled in Canada and is governed by the Credit Union Incorporation Act (British Columbia) and is 
also subject to the provisions of the Financial Institutions Act (British Columbia). The consolidated financial statements of the Credit Union as at and 
for the year ended December 31, 2011 comprise the Credit Union and its subsidiaries (hereinafter together referred to as the “Credit Union” and 
individually as “Credit Union entities”). The Credit Union primarily is involved in retail banking, asset management services, and other integrated 
financial products and services.

2.  BusINess COmBINatION

On January 1, 2010, the former Envision Credit Union amalgamated with Valley First Credit Union (“Valley First”) to form First West Credit Union. 
The results of Valley First have been included in the consolidated financial statements since that date. Valley First offers financial services, wealth 
management and insurance services throughout the Okanagan, Similkameen and Thompson regions of British Columbia.

The amalgamation took place to achieve economies of scale for the combined Credit Union, while allowing the pre-existing entities to retain their 
local identities.

The business combination is accounted for using the acquisition method, with the Credit Union acquiring 100% of the net assets of Valley First 
Credit Union for a total estimated consideration of $100,640 as indicated below. The shares of Valley First Credit Union were exchanged for shares 
of First West Credit Union as follows:

Valley First Credit union  # of shares  First West Credit union  # of shares  

Class A membership equity shares  1,379,018  Class A membership equity shares  1,379,018
Class B investment equity shares  27,867,271  Class C investment equity shares  27,867,271
Class C retirement plan equity shares 14,817,828  Class D retirement plan equity shares 14,817,828

Class A membership shares are included in deposits.

The following table summarizes the estimated fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition.

Cash                                                                                                              $ 126,567
Loans    1,284,807
Investments and other   46,504
Premises and equipment                                                                      18,776
Total assets acquired   1,476,654
Deposits   1,347,127
Borrowings   28,885
Total liabilities assumed                                                                       1,376,012

Estimated net assets acquired                                                                 $ 100,642

The par value of equity shares issued was $42,685. The credit union has recognized the excess of the estimated fair value of the net assets acquired 
over the par value of the equity interests of First West Credit Union issued as Contributed Surplus in the amount of $57,957.

Included in Note 19 are intangible assets of $5,880 relating to ICBC licenses acquired, which are not subject to amortization as they are expected to 
contribute cash flows for an indefinite period of time.

FIRST WEST CREDIT UNION
December 31, 2011 (in thousands of dollars)
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3.  BasIs OF PRePaRatION

a) statement of compliance
 The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as issued by 
   the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). These are the Credit Union’s first consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance  
 with IFRSs and IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards has been applied.

 An explanation of how the transition to IFRSs has affected the reported financial position, financial performance and cash flows of the 
 Credit Union is provided in Note 32.

 The consolidated financial statements were authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on March 12, 2012.

(b)  Basis of measurement
 The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for the following:
 •  derivative financial instruments are measured at fair value
 •  financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value
 •	 available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair value
 •	 the liability for defined benefit obligations is recognized as the present value of the defined benefit obligation less the net total of the plan 
    assets, plus unrecognized actuarial gains, less unrecognized past service cost and unrecognized actuarial losses.

(c)  Functional currency
 These consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is the Credit Union’s functional currency.

(d)  Basis of transition to IFRs
 The Credit Union’s consolidated financial statements were prepared in accordance with Canadian Generally Accepted Accounting Policies  
 (“CGAAP”) up to and including December 31, 2010; and restated using IFRSs for these consolidated financial statements. The financial reporting  
 requirements of CGAAP differ in a number of areas from those prescribed by IFRSs. The Credit Union’s consolidated financial statements for the 
 year ended December 31, 2011 are the first annual consolidated financial statements prepared in compliance with IFRSs. The Credit Union’s  
 transition date to IFRS was January 1, 2010 and accordingly, the Credit Union prepared its opening IFRS consolidated balance sheet as at
 that date and has complied with IFRS 1 – “First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards” (“IFRS 1”).

 Upon transition to IFRSs, the general principle is that consolidated financial statements must be prepared on a retrospective basis as if IFRSs had  
 always been applied. In addition to exempting entities from the requirement to restate comparatives for particular standards, IFRS 1 provides  
  certain mandatory exceptions and grants certain optional exemptions from full retrospective application of IFRSs. In preparing these  
 consoli dated financial statements in accordance with IFRS 1, the Credit Union has applied the mandatory exceptions and certain of the optional  
  exemptions from full retrospective application of IFRS.

 In preparing the Credit Union’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2011, management has amended certain 
   accounting policies previously applied in the CGAAP consolidated financial statements to comply with specific IFRS requirements. An explanation 
   how the transition from CGAAP to IFRS has affected the reported financial position, financial performance and cash flows with accompanying 
 of narrative explanations has been provided in Note 32.

(e)  use of estimates and judgments
 The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRSs requires management to make judgments, estimates and 
   assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. 
 Actual results may differ from these estimates.

 Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the period in 
   which the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected.

 Information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgements in applying accounting policies that have the most  
  significant effect on the amounts recognized in the consolidated financial statements are described in Notes 4 and 6.

4.  sIgNIFICaNt aCCOuNtINg POlICIes

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these consolidated financial statements and in 
preparing the opening IFRS statement of financial position at January 1, 2010 for the purposes of transitioning to IFRSs.

(a)  Basis of consolidation
 The consolidated financial statements include the assets, liabilities, results of operations and cash flows of the Credit Union and its subsidiaries:      
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 Envision Insurance Services Ltd., Valley First Insurance Services Ltd., Simmons, Black & Emsland Partnership, Envision Investment Services Ltd., 
 Valley First Financial Services. Ltd., Envision Leasing Ltd., 619547 B.C. Ltd., 637506 B.C. Ltd. and Western Interior Financial Ltd. In addition, the  
 Credit Union owns 50% interest in inUnison Financial Services Ltd. and through one of its wholly-owned subsidiaries 50% interest in Bulkley Valley  
 Insurance Services Ltd. All inter-corporate transactions and balances have been eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements.

(i)  Business combinations
 Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method as at the acquisition date, which is the date on which control is transferred     
 to the Credit Union. Control is the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. 
 In assessing control, the Credit Union takes into consideration potential voting rights that currently are exercisable.

 acquisitions on or after January 1, 2010
 For acquisitions on or after January 1, 2010, the Credit Union measures goodwill as the fair value of the consideration transferred including the    
 recognized amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree, less the net recognized amount (generally fair value) of the identifiable assets  
 acquired and liabilities assumed, all measured as of the acquisition date. When the excess is negative, a bargain purchase gain is recognized
  immediately in profit or loss.

 The Credit Union elects on a transaction-by-transaction basis whether to measure non-controlling interest at its fair value, or at its proportionate  
 share of the recognized amount of the identifiable net assets, at the acquisition date.

 Transaction costs, other than those associated with the issue of debt or equity securities, that the Credit Union incurs in connection with a      
 business combination are expensed as incurred.

 acquisitions prior to January 1, 2010
 As part of its transition to IFRSs, the Credit Union elected to restate only those business combinations that occurred on or after January 1, 2010.  
 In respect of acquisitions prior to January 1, 2010, goodwill represents the amount recognized under Canadian GAAP.

 accounting for acquisitions of non-controlling interests
 Acquisitions of non-controlling interests are accounted for as transactions with equity holders in their capacity as equity holders and therefore no     
 goodwill is recognized as a result of such transactions.

(ii) Subsidiaries
 Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Credit Union. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements  
 from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases. The financial statements have been prepared using uniform accounting      
 policies for like transactions and other events in similar circumstances.

(iii Special purpose entities
 Special purpose entities (SPEs) are entities that are created to accomplish a narrow and well-defined objective such as the securitization of particular  
 assets, or the execution of a specific borrowing or lending transaction. An SPE is consolidated if, based on an evaluation of the substance of its  
  relationship with the Credit Union and the SPE’s risks and rewards, the Credit Union concludes that it controls the SPE. The following circumstances
 may indicate a relationship in which, in substance, the Credit Union controls and consequently consolidates an SPE:
 •  The activities of the SPE are being conducted on behalf of the Credit Union according to its specific business needs so that the Credit Union  
    obtains benefits from the SPE’s operation.
 •  The Credit Union has the decision-making powers to obtain the majority of the benefits of the activities of the SPE or, by setting up an “autopilot”  
    mechanism, the Credit Union has delegated these decision-making powers.
 •  The Credit Union has rights to obtain the majority of the benefits of the SPE and therefore may be exposed to risks incident to the activities of the SPE.
 •  The Credit Union retains the majority of the residual or ownership risks related to the SPE or its assets in order to obtain benefits from its activities.

(b) Foreign currency
 Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the functional currency of the Credit Union at the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.  
 Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are translated to the functional currency at the exchange rate  
 at that date. The foreign currency gain or loss on monetary items is the difference between amortized cost in the functional currency at the beginning  
 of the period, adjusted for effective interest and payments during the period, and the amortized cost in foreign currency translated at the exchange  
 rate at the end of the reporting period. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the  
 exchange rate at the date of the transaction.

(c) Interest
 Interest income and expense are recognized in profit or loss using the effective interest method. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly      
 discounts the estimated future cash payments and receipts through the expected life of the financial asset or liability (or, where appropriate, a shorter  
 period) to the carrying amount of the financial asset or liability. When calculating the effective interest rate, the Credit Union estimates future
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  cash flows considering all contractual terms of the financial instrument, but not future credit losses. The calculation of the effective interest rate      
 includes all fees and points paid or received that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. Transaction costs include incremental costs that 
 are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of a financial asset or liability.

 Interest income and expense presented in the statement of profit or loss include:
 •  interest on financial assets and financial liabilities measured at amortized cost calculated on an effective interest basis
 •  interest on available-for-sale investment securities calculated on an effective interest basis
 •  the effective portion of fair value changes in qualifying hedging derivatives designated as cash flow hedges of variability in interest cash      
    flows, in the same period that the hedged cash flows affect interest income / expense

 Fair value changes on other derivatives held for risk management purposes, and other financial assets and liabilities carried at fair value through  
 profit or loss, are presented in net income from other financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss in the statement of profit or loss. 
 The Credit Union currently has no such financial instruments.

(d)  Fee and commission
 Fee and commission income and expense that are integral to the effective interest rate on a financial asset or liability are included in the 
 measurement of the effective interest rate.

 Other fee and commission income, including account servicing fees, investment management fees, sales commission, placement fees and      
 syndication fees, are recognized as the related services are performed. When a loan commitment is not expected to result in the draw-down of 
 a loan, the related loan commitment fees are recognized on a straight-line basis over the commitment period.

 Other fees and commission expense relate mainly to transaction and service fees, which are expensed as the services are received.

(e)  Net income from other financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss
 Net income from other financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss relates to nontrading derivatives held for risk management      
 purposes that do not form part of qualifying hedge relationships and financial assets and liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss,  
 and includes all realized and unrealized fair value changes, interest, dividends and foreign exchange differences.

(f)  Dividends
 Dividend income is recognized when the right to receive income is established. Dividends are reflected as either a component of net income from  
 other financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss or other operating income based on the underlying classification of the equity investment.

(g) lease payments
 Payments made under operating leases are recognized in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Lease incentives      
 received are recognized as an integral part of the total lease expense, over the term of the lease.

(h)  Income tax expense
 Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Current tax and deferred tax are recognized in profit or loss except to the extent that     
 they relate to items recognized directly in equity or in other comprehensive income.

 Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted  
 at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

 Deferred tax is recognized in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting  
 purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to the temporary  
 differences when they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date. Deferred tax assets
 and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities against current tax assets, and they relate to income  
 taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and  
 assets on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realized simultaneously.

 A deferred tax asset is recognized for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that 
  future taxable profits will be available against which they can be utilized. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced 
 to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realized.

(i)  Financial assets and financial liabilities
 (i)  Recognition
    The Credit Union initially recognizes loans, deposits, and borrowings on the date at which they are originated. Regular way purchases and 
    sales of financial assets are recognized on the trade date at which the Credit Union commits to purchase or sell the asset. All other financial  
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    assets and liabilities (including assets and liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss) are initially recognized on the trade date at  
    which the Credit Union becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

    A financial asset or financial liability is measured initially at fair value plus, for an item not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs  
    that are directly attributable to its acquisition or issue.

 (ii)  Classification
    See accounting policies 4(j), (l) and (m).

 (iii) Derecognition
    Financial assets are derecognized when the contractual rights to receive the cash flows from these assets have ceased to exist or the assets  
    have been transferred and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the assets are also transferred. If the Credit Union has neither  
    transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the transferred financial asset, it assesses whether it has retained control  
    over the transferred asset. If control has been retained, the Credit Union recognizes the transferred asset to the extent of its continuing 
    involvement. If control has not been retained, the Credit Union derecognizes the transferred asset. Financial liabilities are derecognized when 
    they have been redeemed or otherwise extinguished.

    The Credit Union periodically transfers loans to SPE’s through securitizations or through transfers to independent third parties. In instances 
    where the Credit Union’s securitizations and other transfers of receivables do not result in a transfer of contractual cash flows of the  
    receivables or an assumption of an obligation to pay the cash flows of the receivable to a transferee, the Credit Union has not derecognized  
    the transferred receivables and has instead recorded a secured borrowing with respect to any consideration received.

 (iv)  Offsetting
    Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position when, and only when, the  
    Credit Union has a legal right to set off the recognized amounts and it intends either to settle on a net basis or to realize the asset and settle  
    the liability simultaneously.

    Income and expenses are presented on a net basis only when permitted under IFRSs, or for gains and losses arising from a group of  
    similar transactions.

 (v)  Amortized cost measurement
    The amortized cost of a financial asset or liability is the amount at which the financial asset or liability is measured at initial recognition, minus 
    principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amortization using the effective interest method of any difference between the initial 
    amount recognized and the maturity amount, minus any reduction for impairment.

 (vi)  Fair value measurement
    Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable, willing parties in an  
    arm’s-length transaction on the measurement date.

    When available, the Credit Union measures the fair value of an instrument using quoted prices in an active market for that instrument.  
    A market is regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly available and represent actual and regularly occurring market 
    transactions on an arm’s length basis.

    If a market for a financial instrument is not active, the Credit Union establishes fair value using a valuation technique. Valuation techniques 
    include using recent arm’s length transactions between knowledgeable, willing parties (if available), reference to the current fair value of 
    other instruments that are substantially the same, discounted cash flow analyses and option pricing models. The chosen valuation technique 
    makes maximum use of market inputs, relies as little as possible on estimates specific to the Credit Union, incorporates all factors that market 
     participants would consider in setting a price, and is consistent with accepted economic methodologies for pricing financial instruments.

 (vii) Identification and measurement of impairment
    At each reporting date the Credit Union assesses whether there is objective evidence that financial assets not carried at fair value through 
    profit or loss are impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is (are) impaired when objective evidence demonstrates that a loss  
    event has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset(s), and that the loss event has an impact on the future cash flows of the asset(s)  
    that can be estimated reliably.

    Objective evidence that financial assets are impaired can include significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer, default or delinquency  
    by a borrower, restructuring of a loan or advance by the Credit Union on terms that the Credit Union would not otherwise consider,  
    indications that a borrower or issuer will enter bankruptcy, the disappearance of an active market for a security, or other observable data  

4. sIgNIFICaNt aCCOuNtINg POlICIes (continued)

fIfty



    relating to a group of assets such as adverse changes in the payment status of borrowers or issuers in the group, or economic conditions 
    that correlate with defaults in the group. Loans where interest or principal is contractually past due 90 days are automatically recognized as  
    impaired, unless management determines there is no reasonable doubt as to the ultimate collectability of principal and interest. All loans are  
    classified as impaired when interest or principal is past due 180 days.

    The Credit Union considers evidence of impairment for loans and held-to-maturity investment securities at both a specific asset and collective  
    level. All individually significant loans and held-to-maturity investment securities are assessed for specific impairment. All individually  
    significant loans and held-to-maturity investment securities found not to be specifically impaired are then collectively assessed for any  
    impairment that has been incurred but not yet identified. Loans and held-to-maturity investment securities that are not individually  
    significant are collectively assessed for impairment by grouping together loans to members and held-to-maturity investment securities 
    with similar risk characteristics.

    In assessing collective impairment the Credit Union uses statistical modelling of historical trends of default experience, timing of recoveries  
    and the amount of loss incurred, adjusted for management’s judgment as to whether current economic and credit conditions are such that  
    the actual losses are likely to be greater or less than suggested by historical modelling.
 
    Impairment losses on assets carried at amortized cost are measured as the difference between the carrying amount of the financial asset and  
    the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate. Impairment losses are recognized in  
    profit or loss and reflected in an allowance account against loans. Interest on impaired assets continues to be recognized through the  
    unwinding of the discount. When a subsequent event causes the amount of impairment loss to decrease, the decrease in impairment loss  
    is reversed through profit or loss.

    Impairment losses on available-for-sale financial assets are recognized by transferring the cumulative loss that has been recognized in other  
    comprehensive income to profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment. The cumulative loss that is reclassified from other comprehensive  
    income to profit or loss is the difference between the acquisition cost, net of any principal repayment and amortization, and the current fair  
    value, less any impairment loss previously recognized in profit or loss. Changes in impairment provisions attributable to time value are  
    reflected as a component of interest income.

    If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of an impaired available-for-sale debt security increases and the increase can be objectively related to  
    an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognized in profit or loss, the impairment loss is reversed, with the amount of the reversal  
    recognized in profit or loss. However, any subsequent recovery in the fair value of an impaired available-for-sale equity security is recognized  
    in other comprehensive income.

    The Credit Union writes off certain loans to members when they are determined to be uncollectible (see Note 16).

 (viii) Designation at fair value through profit or loss
    The Credit Union designates financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss in the following circumstances:
    •  T he assets or liabilities are managed, evaluated and reported internally on a fair value basis.
    •   The designation eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch which would otherwise arise.
    •   The asset or liability contains an embedded derivative that significantly modifies the cash flows that would otherwise be required  
     under the contract.

 (j) Cash resources
    Cash and cash equivalents comprise unrestricted balances held with Central 1 Credit Union (“Central 1”) and highly liquid financial assets      
    with original maturities of less than three months, which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in their fair value, and are used by the      
    Credit Union in the management of its short-term commitments.

    Cash and cash equivalents are carried at amortized cost in the statement of financial position.

 (k) Derivatives and hedge accounting
    In the ordinary course of business, the Credit Union enters into various derivative contracts, including interest rate swaps, caps and  
    options. Derivative contracts are either exchange-traded contracts or negotiated over-the-counter contracts. The Credit Union enters into  
    such contracts principally to manage its exposures to interest rate fluctuations as part of its asset/liability management program.

    Derivative instruments are financial contracts whose value changes in response to a change in a specified interest rate, exchange rate or      
    other indices.
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    Derivatives are initially recognized at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is entered into. They are subsequently  
    re-measured at their fair value and reported as assets where they have a positive fair value or as liabilities where they have a negative  
    fair value.

    The Credit Union designates certain derivatives as hedging instruments in qualifying hedging relationships. On initial designation of the  
    hedge, the Credit Union formally documents the relationship between the hedging instrument and hedged item, including the risk  
    management objective and strategy in undertaking the hedge, together with the method that will be used to assess the effectiveness of  
    the hedging relationship. The Credit Union makes an assessment, both at the inception of the hedge relationship as well as on an ongoing  
    basis, as to whether the hedging instrument is expected to be ‘highly effective’ in offsetting the changes in the fair value or cash flows of  
    the respective hedged item during the period for which the hedge is designated, and whether the actual results of each hedge are within  
    a range of 80 - 125 percent. The Credit Union makes an assessment for a cash flow hedge of a forecast transaction, as to whether the  
    forecast transaction is highly probable to occur and presents an exposure to variations in cash flows that could ultimately affect profit or loss.

    (i)  Cash flow hedges
     When a derivative is designated as the hedging instrument in a hedge of the variability in cash flows attributable to a particular risk  
     associated with a recognized asset or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction that could affect profit or loss, the effective portion  
     of changes in the fair value of the derivative is recognized in other comprehensive income in the hedging reserve. The amount recognized  
     in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment in the same period as the hedged cash flows  
     affect profit or loss. Any ineffective portion of changes in the fair value of the derivative is recognized immediately in profit or loss.

     If the hedging derivative expires or is sold, terminated, or exercised, or the hedge no longer meets the criteria for cash flow hedge  
     accounting, or the hedge designation is revoked, then hedge accounting is discontinued prospectively. In a discontinued hedge of a  
     forecast transaction the cumulative amount recognized in other comprehensive income from the period when the hedge was effective is  
      reclassified from equity to profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment in the same period the previously hedged cash flows affect profit or  
     loss. If the forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, then the balance in other comprehensive income is reclassified immediately  
     to profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment.

    (ii) Other derivatives
     When a derivative is not held for trading, and is not designated in a qualifying hedge relationship, all changes in its fair value are  
     recognized immediately in profit or loss as a component of net interest income.

 (l)  loans to members
    Loans to members are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market and that  
    the Credit Union does not intend to sell immediately or in the near term. Loans are initially measured at fair value plus incremental direct  
    transaction costs, and subsequently measured at their amortized cost using the effective interest method.

 (m) Investments
    Investments are initially measured at fair value plus, in case of investment securities not at fair value through profit or loss, incremental direct  
    transaction costs, and subsequently accounted for depending on their classification as either held to maturity, fair value through profit or  
    loss, or available for sale.

    (i) Held-to-maturity
     Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity that the Credit Union has  
     the positive intent and ability to hold to maturity, and which are not designated as at fair value through profit or loss or as available for sale.

     Held-to-maturity investments are carried at amortized cost using the effective interest method. A sale or reclassification of a more than  
     insignificant amount of held-to-maturity investments would result in the reclassification of all held-to-maturity investments as available for  
     sale, and would prevent the Credit Union from classifying investment securities as held to maturity for the current and the following two  
     financial years. However, sales and reclassifications in any of the following circumstances would not trigger a reclassification:
     • sales or reclassifications that are so close to maturity that changes in the market rate of interest would not have a significant effect on  
      the financial asset’s fair value
     •  sales or reclassifications after the Credit Union has collected substantially all of the asset’s original principal
     •  sales or reclassifications attributable to non-recurring isolated events beyond the Credit Union’s control that could not have been  
      reasonably anticipated.

    (ii)  Fair value through profit or loss
     The Credit Union designates some investment securities at fair value, with fair value changes recognized immediately in profit or loss as    
     described in accounting policy (i) (viii).
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    (iii) Available-for-sale
     Available-for-sale investments are non-derivative investments that are designated as available for sale or are not classified as another    
     category of financial assets. Unquoted equity securities whose fair value cannot reliably be measured are carried at cost. All other  
     available-for-sale investments are carried at fair value.

     Interest income is recognized in profit or loss using the effective interest method. Dividend income is recognized in profit or loss when the  
     Credit Union becomes entitled to the dividend. Foreign exchange gains or losses on available-for-sale debt security investments are  
     recognized in profit or loss.

     Other fair value changes are recognized in other comprehensive income until the investment is sold or impaired, whereupon the cumulative  
     gains and losses previously recognized in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment.

     A non-derivative financial asset may be reclassified from the available-for-sale category to the loans and receivables category if it  
     otherwise would have met the definition of loans and receivables and if the Credit Union has the intention and ability to hold that financial  
     asset for the foreseeable future or until maturity.

 (n) Premises and equipment
    (i) Recognition and measurement
     Items of premises and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

     Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. Purchased software that is integral to the  
     functionality of the related equipment is capitalized as part of that equipment.

     When parts of an item of premises or equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items (major components)  
     of premises and equipment.

     The gain or loss on disposal of an item of premises and equipment is determined by comparing the proceeds from disposal with the  
     carrying amount of the item of premises and equipment, and are recognized net within other income in profit or loss.

    (ii) Subsequent costs
     The cost of replacing a part of an item of premises or equipment is recognized in the carrying amount of the item if it is probable that the  
     future economic benefits embodied within the part will flow to the Credit Union and its cost can be measured reliably. The carrying  
     amount of the replaced part is derecognized. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of premises and equipment are recognized in profit or  
     loss as incurred.

    (iii) Depreciation
     Depreciation is recognized in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each part of an item of premises and  
     equipment since this most closely reflects the expected pattern of consumption of the future economic benefits embodied in the asset.  
     Leased assets under finance leases are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and their useful lives. Land is not depreciated.

     The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative periods are as follows:
     • Buildings        40 years         
     •  Other equipment        3-7 years
     •   Leasehold improvements   lease term

    Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reassessed at each financial year-end and adjusted if appropriate.

 (o) Intangible assets
    (i) Goodwill
     Goodwill that arises upon the acquisition of subsidiaries is included in intangible assets.

     In respect of acquisitions prior to January 1, 2010, goodwill is included on the basis of its deemed cost, which represents the amount  
     recorded under previous Canadian GAAP.

     Subsequent measurement of goodwill is at cost less accumulated impairment losses.
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4. sIgNIFICaNt aCCOuNtINg POlICIes (continued)

    (ii) Software
     Software acquired by the Credit Union is stated at cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses.
     Expenditure on internally developed software is recognized as an asset when the Credit Union is able to demonstrate its intention and  
     ability to complete the development and use the software in a manner that will generate future economic benefits, and can reliably  
     measure the costs to complete the development. The capitalized costs of internally developed software include all costs directly  
     attributable to developing the software and capitalized borrowing costs, and are amortized over its useful life. Internally developed      
     software is stated at capitalized cost less accumulated amortization and impairment.

     Subsequent expenditure on software assets is capitalized only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in the specific  
     asset to which it relates. All other expenditure is expensed as incurred.

     Amortization is recognized in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the software, from the date that it is  
     available for use since this most closely reflects the expected pattern of consumption of the future economic benefits embodied in the  
     asset. The estimated useful life of software is three to ten years.

     Amortization methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each financial year end and adjusted if appropriate.

 (p) Impairment of non-financial assets
    The carrying amounts of the Credit Union’s non-financial assets are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any  
    indication of impairment. If any such indication exists then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. For goodwill and intangible assets  
    that have indefinite useful lives, the recoverable amount is estimated each year at the same time.

    The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. In assessing  
    value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market  
    assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.

    For the purpose of impairment testing, assets that cannot be tested individually are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that  
    generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or groups of assets (the “cash  
    generating unit” or “CGU”). CGUs to which goodwill has been allocated are aggregated so that the level at which impairment is tested reflects  
    the lowest level at which goodwill is monitored for internal reporting purposes. Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to  
    groups of CGUs that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.

    The Credit Union’s corporate assets do not generate separate cash inflows. If there is an indication that a corporate asset may be impaired,  
    then the recoverable amount is determined for the CGU to which the corporate asset belongs.

    An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset or a CGU exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are  
    recognized in profit or loss. Impairment losses recognized in respect of CGUs are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill  
    allocated to the CGU and then to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the unit (group of units) on a pro rata basis.

    An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. In respect of other assets, impairment losses recognized in prior periods are      
    assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has  
    been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s  
    carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortization, if no  
    impairment loss had been recognized.

    The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative periods are as follows:
    •  Goodwill  indefinite
    •  ICBC licenses  indefinite
    • Software  3 - 10 years
    •  Customer List  7 - 10 years

 (q) Deposits and borrowings
    Deposits and borrowings are the Credit Union’s sources of primary funding.

    The Credit Union classifies capital instruments as financial liabilities or equity instruments in accordance with the substance of the contractual  
    terms of the instruments.

    Deposits and borrowings are initially measured at fair value plus incremental direct transaction costs, and subsequently measured at their      
    amortized cost using the effective interest method, except where the Credit Union chooses to carry the liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.
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 (r)  Provisions
    A provision is recognized if, as a result of a past event, the Credit Union has a present legal or constructive obligation that can be estimated  
    reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. Provisions are determined by      
    discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, where  
    appropriate, the risks specific to the liability.

    A provision for onerous contracts is recognized when the expected benefits to be derived by the Credit Union from a contract are lower than  
    the unavoidable cost of meeting its obligations under the contract. The provision is measured at the present value of the lower of the  
    expected cost of terminating the contract and the expected net cost of continuing with the contract. Before a provision is established, the  
    Credit Union recognizes any impairment loss on the assets associated with that contract.

 (s)  employee benefits
    The Credit Union operates various pension plans. The plans are generally funded through contributions to trustee-administered funds      
    determined by periodic actuarial calculations. The Credit Union has both defined benefit and defined contribution plans.
    (i) Defined benefit pension plans:
     A defined benefit plan is a pension plan that defines an amount of pension benefit that an employee will receive on retirement, usually  
     dependent on one or more factors, such as age, years of service and compensation. The liability recognized in the Credit Union’s  
     consolidated statement of financial position. The present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by discounting the  
     estimated future cash outflows using interest rates of high-quality corporate bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the  
     benefits will be paid, and that have terms to maturity approximating the terms of the related pension liability.

     Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are deferred using the  
     corridor approach.

    (ii) Post-employment health care benefits:
     The Credit Union operates a number of post-employment health care benefit plans. The method of accounting, assumptions and the  
     frequency of valuations are similar to those used for defined benefit pension plans.

    (iii) Defined contribution pension plans:
     For defined contribution plans, the Credit Union pays a specified flat rate for employer contributions. The Credit Union has no further  
     payment obligations once the contributions have been paid. The contributions are recognized as an employee benefit expense in the  
     periods during which services are rendered by employees.

    (iv) Participation in multi-employer pension plans:
     The Credit Union provides defined retirement benefits to certain employees through a multi-employer plan administered by Central 1  
     Credit Union (“Central 1”). Each member credit union is exposed to the actuarial risks of the other employers with the result that, in the  
     Credit Union’s opinion, there is no reasonable way to allocate any defined benefit obligations. The Plan has informed the Credit Union that  
     they are not able to provide defined benefit information on a discrete employer basis as the investment records are not tracked by  
     individual employer and each employer is exposed to the actuarial risks of the Plan as a whole. Accordingly, the Credit Union’s  
     participation in the Plan is accounted for as a defined contribution plan with contributions recorded on an accrual basis. The Credit Union  
     has provided additional disclosure on the overall funding status of the multi-employer plan and future contribution levels in Note 25.

 (t) standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective
    At December 31, 2011, a number of standards and interpretations, and amendments thereto, had been issued by the IASB, which are not  
    effective for these consolidated financial statements. Those which are expected to have a significant effect on the Credit Union’s consolidated  
    financial statements are discussed below.

    (i) IFRS 9 Financial Instruments:
     In November 2009, the IASB issued IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments (“IFRS 9”) which introduced new requirements for the classification and  
     measurement of financial assets. In October 2010, the IASB issued additions to IFRS 9 relating to financial liabilities. Together, these  
     changes represent the first phase in the IASB’s planned replacement of IAS 39 - Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement  
     (“IAS 39”) with a less complex and improved standard for financial instruments.

     The standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2015. IFRS 9 is required to be applied retrospectively.

     The main changes to the requirements of IAS 39 are summarized below:
     All financial assets that are currently in the scope of IAS 39 will be classified as either amortized cost or fair value. The available-for-sale,  
     held-to-maturity and loans and receivables categories will no longer exist. Classification of financial assets is based on an entity’s business  
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     model for managing the financial assets and their contractual cash flow characteristics. Reclassifications between the two categories are  
     prohibited unless there is a change in the entity’s business model.

     A financial asset is measured at amortized cost if two criteria are met: i) the objective of the business model is to hold the financial asset for  
     the collection of the contractual cash flows; and ii) the contractual cash flows of the instrument are solely payments of principal and  
     interest on the principal outstanding. All other financial assets would be measured at fair value. Movements in the fair value of financial  
     assets classified at fair value are recognized in profit or loss, except for equity investments an entity takes the option to designate an equity  
     instrument that is not held for trading at fair value through other comprehensive income. If this option is taken, all subsequent changes in  
     fair value are recognized in other comprehensive income with no recycling of gains or losses to the income statement. Dividend income  
     would continue to be recognized in the consolidated statement profit or loss.

     An entity is only permitted to designate a financial asset otherwise meeting the amortized cost criteria at fair value through profit and loss  
     if doing so significantly reduces or eliminates an accounting mismatch. This designation is made on initial recognition and is irrevocable.

     Financial assets which contain embedded derivatives are to be classified in their entirety either at fair value or amortized cost depending  
     on whether the contracts as a whole meet the relevant criteria under IFRS 9.

     Most of IAS 39’s requirements for financial liabilities are retained, including amortized cost accounting for most financial liabilities. 
     The guidance on separation of embedded derivatives will continue to apply to host contracts that are financial liabilities. However, fair  
     value changes attributable to changes in own credit risk for financial liabilities designated under the fair value option other than loan  
     commitments and financial guarantee contracts are to be presented in the Statement of Comprehensive Income unless the treatment  
     would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss. These amounts are not subsequently reclassified to the consolidated  
     statement profit or loss but may be transferred within members’ equity.

     The second and third phases in IASB’s project to replace IAS 39 will address the impairment of financial assets measured at amortized cost  
     and hedge accounting. In addition, the IASB is working with the US Financial Accounting Standards Board to reduce inconsistencies  
     between US GAAP and IFRS in accounting for financial instruments. The impact of IFRS 9 may change as a consequence of further      
     developments resulting from the IASB’s project to replace IAS 39. As a result, it is impracticable to quantify the impact of IFRS 9 as at the  
     date of publication of these consolidated financial statements.

    (ii) IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement:
     IFRS 13 – Fair Value Measurement (“IFRS 13”) was issued on May 12, 2011. IFRS 13 defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring  
     fair value and sets out disclosure requirements for fair value measurements. IFRS 13 explains how to measure fair value when it is required  
     by other IFRSs. It does not introduce new fair value measurements, nor does it eliminate the practicability exceptions to fair value  
     measurements that currently exist in certain standards. Prior to the introduction of IFRS 13 there was no single source of guidance on fair  
     value measurement and inconsistencies in guidance added to the complexity of financial reporting.

     The standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013. IFRS 13 is required to be applied prospectively.

     Fair value is measured as an exit price, with measurement considering characteristics of the asset or liability and not entity-specific  
     characteristics, as well as assuming a transaction takes place in the entity’s principal (or most advantageous) market between market  
     participants. Price is not adjusted for transaction costs and measurement maximizes the use of relevant observable inputs and minimizes  
     the use of unobservable inputs. Measurement of non-financial assets is based on highest and best use of the asset. Measurement of net  
     exposures for financial assets and liabilities with offsetting risks is allowed in limited circumstances.
 
     Where liabilities and an entity’s own equity instruments are recorded at fair value, quoted prices are used if available; if not, then quoted  
     prices for an identical item held as an asset are used before resorting to other valuation techniques.

     Fair value hierarchy disclosures are extended to non-financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value. There is also a requirement to     
     disclose the effect on profit or loss for recurring fair value measurements categorized within Level 3, as well as information about fair value  
     to be disclosed for items not measured at fair value but for which fair value is disclosed.

5. FINaNCIal RIsk maNagemeNt

(a)  Introduction and overview
 The Credit Union is exposed to the following risks from holding financial instruments: credit risk, liquidity risk, market risk, operational risk and   
 capital risk. The following is a description of those risks and how the Credit Union manages them.
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(b) Credit risk
 Credit risk is the risk that a financial loss will be incurred due to the failure of a counterparty to discharge its contractual commitment or  
 obligation to the Credit Union. Credit risk arises principally in lending activities that result in loans to members as described in Note 16; but also  
 from interest rate swaps (derivatives).

 Concentration of credit risk may arise when the ability of a number of borrowers or counterparties to meet their contractual obligations are  
 similarly affected by external factors. Examples of concentration risk would include geographic and industry factors.

 Management of credit risk
 Credit risk is managed in accordance with our lending policy approved by the Board of Directors. Risk limits and credit authorities are delegated  
  to the Credit Risk Committee, comprised of executive and senior credit management staff, which in turn delegates appropriate limits to lending
  staff. Credit exposures in excess of certain levels require approval from the Credit Risk Committee. 

  The Investment and Loan Committee (ILC) meets quarterly to review portfolio credit quality, industry and member concentrations, and adequacy  
 of loan provisions. Policies relating to single member limits and industry and geographic concentration are approved by the Board. 

 The Credit Union’s Credit Department reviews and adjudicates credit risk outside of branch managers’ delegated lending limits and reviews      
 branch credit decisions to ensure compliance to policy. The Credit Department may approve credits not meeting our lending guidelines on an  
 exception basis with appropriate risk mitigation and reward considerations.

 Loan exposures are managed and monitored through facility limits for individual borrowers, credit type, industry exposure and a credit review    
 process. These reviews ensure the borrower complies with internal policy and underwriting standards. The Credit Union relies on collateral  
 security typically in the form of a fixed and floating charge over the assets of its borrowers. Credit risk is also managed through regular analysis of  
 the ability of members to meet interest and principal repayment obligations and by changing these lending limits where appropriate. Credit risk  
 for our counterparties in other financial instruments, such as investments and derivatives, is assessed through published credit ratings.

 Maximum exposure to credit risk 
 The Credit Union’s exposure to credit risk is comprised of loans and derivatives. For these financial assets recognized on the balance sheet, the  
 maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of any collateral held, equals their carrying amount. For loan commitments and other 
 credit-related commitments that are irrevocable, the maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of any collateral held, is the full  
 amount of the committed facilities.

    2011  2010

 On balance sheet exposure
 Loans and accrued interest $ 4,755,736 $ 4,466,944
 Derivatives (net)  22,999   10,041
    4,778,735   4,476,985
 Off balance sheet exposure
 Letters of credit  29,201  32,173
 Commitments to extend credit  20,645  14,450
 Derivatives (net)  883,640  756,621
    933,486   803,244

 maximum exposure $ 5,712,221 $ 5,280,229

 Accrued interest of $967 (2010: $345) has been accrued on the impaired loans but a specific provision of $693 (2010: Nil) has been established  
 to reduce the carrying value of this accrual to its estimated net realizable value.

 Collateral and other credit enhancements
 It is our lending policy to assess the customer’s capacity to repay, rather than rely excessively on the underlying collateral security. Depending on  
 the customer’s standing and the type of product, facilities may be unsecured. Nevertheless, collateral can be an important mitigant of credit risk.
 Credit quality of financial assets neither past due nor impaired.

   Credit quality of financial assets neither past due nor impaired
 The credit quality of the portfolio of loans that were neither past due nor impaired  can be assessed by reference to the categories below, on 
 which the following information is based:
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    2011  2010

 Satisfactory risk $ 4,607,208 $ 4,317,315
 Special mention  25,050   70,602

   $ 4,632,258 $ 4,387,917

 Satisfactory risk includes commercial facilities demonstrating financial conditions, risk factors and the capacity to repay ranging from satisfactory  
 to excellent and retail facilities that are maintained within and outside of generally applicable product parameters without being impaired.

 Special mention includes facilities that require varying degrees of special attention due to terms and conditions of credit that are not met.

 Information in respect of geographic concentrations is included in Note 16.

 Loans past due but not impaired
 Examples of exposures considered past due but not impaired include loans that have missed the most recent payment date but on which there   
 is no evidence of impairment or they are fully secured by cash collateral. Loans past due greater than 60 days are included on the watch list.

 The aging analysis below includes past due loans on which a collective impairment allowance has been assessed, though at their early  stage of  
 arrears, there is normally no identifiable impairment.
    2011  2010

 Past due up to 29 days $ 73,030 $ 40,471
 Past due 30-59 days  8,287   9,025
 Past due greater than 60 days  13,018   12,468

   $ 94,335 $ 61,964

 Impaired financial assets
 When impairment losses occur, we reduce the carrying amount of the loan by the loss amount through the use of a specific allowance account.

 Individual accounts are treated as impaired when they are past due 90 days, unless management determines there is no reasonable doubt as to  
 the ultimate collectibility of principal and interest, or earlier if there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred.

 Loans that were impaired amounted to $29,142 as at December 31, 2011 ($16,653 as at December 31, 2010). The fair value of the collateral held  
 by the Credit Union as security for impaired loans was $14,665. The Credit Union has estimated the fair value of the collateral based on an  
 updated assessment of the respective security appraisal undertaken at the original funding assessment and management’s knowledge of current  
 local economic conditions.

(c) liquidity risk
 Liquidity risk is the risk of the Credit Union being unable to meet its obligations associated with its financial liabilities that are settled by cash or  
 other financial asset, to fund assets with the appropriate duration and cost, as well as the risk of not being able to meet unexpected cash needs.

 The liquidity risk policy of the Credit Union is that liquidity is managed on both an operational and strategic level on a total company basis.  
 The desired liquidity level above the statutory requirement is determined by taking into account the balance between the cost of liquidity and  
 the yield achieved. Contingency liquidity is managed by having a plan in place that can be invoked very quickly, as well as having a diversity of  
 funding sources arranged that can be accessed when needed. The Credit Union will at all times maintain statutory liquidity levels as required by 
 regulations. Immediate corrective action will be taken if the ratio approaches the regulatory minimum. The liquidity deposits must be held on  
 deposit with the Central 1 Credit Union as per the Credit Union’s Deposit-Loan Agreement. The statutory liquidity ratio is 8.0% of deposits and 
 borrowings as at the reporting date. Based on total deposits and borrowings as at December 31, 2011 the Credit Union’s liquidity exceeds  
 minimum statutory requirements by $127.9 million.

(d) market risk
 Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in interest rates.

 Interest rate risk arises when the values of assets and liabilities do not change by the same amount when interest rates change. Where portfolios  
 are matched in terms of maturities, interest rate risk is reduced. This category also includes yield curve risk, basis risk, optionality risk and interest  
 rate path risk.
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 The primary objectives of the Credit Union’s market risk management process include: maximize earnings and return on capital within acceptable  
 and controllable levels of the above risks; provide for growth that is sound, profitable and balanced without sacrificing the quality of service; and
 manage and maintain a policy and procedures that are consistent with the short and long term strategic goals of the Board of Directors.

e)  Interest rate risk
 Risk measurement
 The Credit Unions’ risk position is measured based upon the potential impact of changes in market conditions. The Asset Liability Committee  
 (ALCO) is a committee comprised of senior management that meets at least quarterly and ad-hoc as required. Responsibilities include:
 •  Approval and review of pricing, investment, liquidity, derivative, foreign exchange and asset-liability policies.
	 •  Review of deviations between actual performance and projected plans.
 •  Review of the management of interest rate sensitivity and financial margin including investing, liquidity management, hedging and  
  securitization activities.
	 •  Approval of Asset-Liability and hedging strategies to manage interest rate risk in order to achieve policies.
	 •  Evaluation of the current interest rate risk position and the potential effect on its Asset Liability Management (ALM) strategy.
	 •  Review and monitoring of key risk modeling assumptions.

 The Credit Union utilizes earnings tests to produce monthly forecasts of net interest income for the upcoming 12 months based on:
 (a)  the current balance sheet structure;
 (b)  scheduled maturity and re-pricing of the balance sheet;
 (c)  several hundred randomly generated interest rate paths composed around a base rate(s) forecast;
 (d) a volatility % of randomly generated key rates; and
 (e) assumptions regarding customer behaviour and balance sheet growth.

 Growth assumptions are based on business plans. Customer behaviour assumptions to assess embedded options in deposit and loan portfolios  
 are based on analysis of trend information and management judgment.   

 The Credit Union will assess the results of the monthly forecast simulations. The maximum allowable risk exposure will be as follows:

 earnings at risk
 A reduction in financial margin over the next 12 months of an amount not to exceed 10% of the next 12 months’ financial margin resulting from a  
 2 standard deviation change in current interest rates held constant.

 Duration of equity
 The effective duration of equity is defined as the percentage change in the market value of equity (including retained earnings, equity shares and  
 derivatives) given a 1% range change in interest rates. The 1% change will consist of a 50 bp shock up and a 50 bp shock down. Given this 1%
 change, the effective duration of equity will not exceed a maximum of 10%.

 The following table shows the results of these forecast simulations as at December 31, 2011:

    Policy limit 2011                  Impact
 
 1. Earnings at risk  10%  1.7%  $  2,203
 2. Duration of equity  +/-10%  0.3% 

 As at December 31, 2011, the Credit Union was within policy limits.

(f) Capital management
 The Credit Union is regulated under the Financial Institutions Act of British Columbia (“the Act”) and is required to maintain a capital level at a  
 minimum of 8% of risk-weighted assets. When determining the sufficiency of capital, the credit union includes in its calculation amounts   
 permitted by the Act including:
 •  Retained earnings and contributed surplus
 •  Equity shares
 •  System capital
 •  Other forms of capital as determined from time to time by the Board of Directors and approved as capital by the regulatory authority

 Total value of the figures above are reduced by:
 •  Goodwill and other intangible assets
 •  Investments with banks/trusts and other
 •  Securitization deferred payment accounts 
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 The Credit Union management ensures compliance with capital adequacy through the following:
 •  identifying the capital needed to support the current and planned operations of the Credit Union, including operations conducted or to be  
   conducted through subsidiaries;
 •  developing and submitting to the Board of Directors for its consideration and approval appropriate and prudent capital management   
   policies, including policies on the quantity and quality of capital needed to support the current and planned operations that reflect both the
   risks to which the Credit Union is exposed and its regulatory capital requirements;
 •  regularly measuring and monitoring capital requirements and capital position, and ensuring the Credit Union meets and will continue to   
   meet its capital requirements;
 •  managing the capital in accordance with the capital management policies;
 •  establishing appropriate and effective procedures and controls for managing the capital, monitoring adherence to those procedures and   
   controls, and reviewing them on a regular basis to ensure that they remain effective;
 •  providing the Board of Directors with appropriate reports on the capital position and on the procedures and controls for managing the  capital; and
 •  providing the Board of Directors with appropriate reports that will enable it to assess whether the institution has an ongoing effective capital  
   management process.
 Stress testing of the capital level is performed at minimum on an annual basis. The tests include a variety of scenarios that vary the growth and  
 income assumptions. They include a test for the current year as well as for the plan period. A sufficient number of scenarios are performed to
 ensure that sensitivity levels can be reasonably assessed and planned for.

 A three year capital plan is reviewed and approved by the Board annually.

 Distributions of capital, such as share dividends, are only made after targets in the capital plan have been met. Each distribution must be  
 approved by the Board of Directors.

 The Investment & Loan Committee (“ILC”) is responsible for developing and conducting an annual review of capital management procedures in  
 place relative to the policy requirements established. The ILC reports its findings and recommends any corrective actions to the Board of  
 Directors. The Board of Directors, which may be assisted by the ILC, reviews any written correspondence from the Financial Institutions  
 Commission (“FICOM”) regarding capital management matters, and investigates and responds as appropriate.

 As at December 31, 2011 and 2010, the Credit Union has met its minimum regulatory requirements. The Credit Union has reported the following  
 components of regulatory capital:

    2011  2010

 Primary capital $ 334,658 $ 306,341
 Secondary capital  40,608   39,850
 Deductions from capital  (19,446)   (13,760)

 Total capital $ 355,820 $ 332,431

6.  use OF JuDgemeNts aND estImates
 
 The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRSs requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires  
 management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the Credit Union’s accounting policies. Changes in assumptions may have a  
 significant impact on the financial statements in the period the assumptions changed. The principal areas involving a higher degree of judgment  
 or complexity and/or areas which require significant estimates are described below:

(a) Impairment losses on loans to members:
 The Credit Union regularly reviews its loan portfolio to assess for impairment. In determining whether an impairment loss should be recorded in  
 the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the Credit Union makes judgments as to whether there is any observable data indicating an  
 impairment trigger followed by a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from a portfolio of loans before the decrease can be
 identified with that portfolio. This evidence may include observable data indicating that there has been an adverse change in the payment status  
 of members in a group. Management uses estimates based on historical loss experience for assets with credit risk characteristics and objective  
 evidence of impairment similar to those in the portfolio when scheduling its future cash flows.
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(b)  securitizations and derecognition of transferred financial instruments:
 The Credit Union transfers residential and commercial mortgages to third party SPE’s either directly or through an initial transfer to intermediary  
 financial institutions that are eligible, authorized transferors approved by the SPE. The SPE then issues securities to third party investors.  
 Depending on the contractual arrangements, the Credit Union may not derecognize the securitized residential mortgages and may instead  
 recognize a secured borrowing, recognize only a portion of the assets up to the Credit Union’s remaining involvement in those assets, or may  
 derecognize the assets and recognize, as separate assets or liabilities, any rights and obligations constituted or retained in the transfer.  
 In assessing the derecognition criteria, management is often required to make judgments as to the extent to which cash flows are transferred and  
 any continuing exposure to risks and rewards of the transferred receivables. The Credit Union has disclosed the accounting treatment for  
 securitizations entered into during the year ended December 31, 2011 in Note 27. 

(c)  Income taxes:
 The Credit Union computes an effective tax rate which includes an evaluation of the small business rate eligible to credit unions under the  
 Canadian Income Tax Act. This small business rate applies until the tax paid retained earnings reach five percent of amounts owing to members,  
 including deposits and shares. An estimate of deposit, share and income growth based on the modeling of the Credit Union’s business plan
 inclusive of economic indicators provides the basis in determining the small business rate. This rate forms the effective tax rate used in computing  
 the income tax provision. However, the actual amounts of income tax expense do not become final until the filing and acceptance of the income  
 tax return by the relevant tax authorities, which occurs subsequent to the issuance of the consolidated financial statements. 
 To the extent that estimates differ from the final tax returns, earnings would be affected in the subsequent year.

7.  FINaNCIal assets aND lIaBIlItIes
 
 The table below set out the classifications and carrying amounts of the Credit Union’s financial assets and liabilities:
       
                                                                                                                                                    Held-               Loans and               Available-    Other financial
December 31, 2011 FVTPL   to-maturity  receivables   for-sale liabilities  Total
       
Cash resources (Note 14) –   164,137  38,385  –  –  202,522
Derivative assets (Note 15)  22,999   –  –  –  –  22,999
Loans to members (Note16)  –   –  4,743,634  –  – 4,743,634
Investments (Note 17) –   284,145  –  41,146  –  325,291

Deposits from members (Note 21)  –  –  – –  4,602,411  4,602,411
Borrowings (Note 23)  –   –  –  –  445,868  445,868

       
                                                                                                                                                    Held-               Loans and               Available-    Other financial
December 31, 2010 FVTPL   to-maturity  receivables   for-sale liabilities  Total
       
Cash resources (Note 14) –   38,442  38,862  –  –  77,304
Derivative assets (Note 15)  10,041   –  –  –  –  10,041
Loans to members (Note16)  –   –  4,454,308  –  – 4,454,308
Investments (Note 17) –   336,299  –  38,685  –  374,984

Deposits from members (Note 21)  –  –  – –  4,438,095  4,438,095
Borrowings (Note 23)  –   –  –  –  261,310  261,310

6. use OF JuDgemeNts aND estImates (continued)
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8.  Net INteRest INCOme
    2011  2010

Interest income
 Cash resources $ 10,603 $ 10,389
 Financial assets: 
  Derivative assets  12,843   13,712
  Available for sale  699   744
 Loans to members  192,341   182,323
 Assets pledged as collateral  3,337   –
    219,823   207,168

Interest expense 
 Deposits from members  84,404   76,892
 Secured borrowings   2,228   438
 Wholesale borrowings  7,462   3,207
    94,094   80,537

Net interest income $ 125,729 $ 126,631

9.  Fee aND COmmIssION INCOme
    2011  2010

Insurance commissions and fees $ 22,253 $ 20,684
Account service fees   11,593   12,275
Loan administration fees   8,580   11,881
Fees from fiduciary activities and mutual funds   8,055   7,698
Foreign exchange   2,271   2,141

   $ 52,752 $ 54,679

10.  OtheR INCOme
    2011  2010

Securitization $ 2,501 $ 2,335
Leasing revenue   14,943   12,490
IT services   795   8,883
Other    8,324   4,700

   $ 26,563 $ 28,408

11. PeRsONNel exPeNses
    2011  2010

Salaries  $ 72,304 $ 71,270
Benefits   11,301   11,283
Pension   5,421   4,652
Other    3,380   2,473

   $ 92,406 $ 89,678
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12.  OtheR exPeNses
    2011  2010

Administration $ 29,217 $ 32,260
Data processing   11,688   13,997
Occupancy   11,663   11,557

   $ 52,568 $ 57,814

13. INCOme tax exPeNse
    2011  2010

Current income tax $ 6,395 $ 11,215
Deferred income tax   (417)   (292)

   $ 5,978 $ 10,923

Reconciliation of effective tax rate:

The effective rate differs from the amount that would be computed by applying the federal and provincial statutory rates of 26.5% (2010: 28.5%) to 
income before taxes as follows:
    2011  2010

Combined federal and provincial income taxes   26.5%   28.5%
 Reduction for credit unions   (10%)   (11%)
 Other   (0.5%)   8.5%

    16%  26.0%

The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of future income tax liabilities reported in other liabilities are as follows:

    2011  2010

Deferred tax assets: 
 Allowance for impairment of loans $ 1,492 $ 1,641
 Other accrued expenses   1,223   829
 Other   447   459
    3,162   2,929

Deferred tax liabilities: 
 Intangible assets  $ 2,536  $ 2,536
 Investments and other   2,151   2,168
 Premises, equipment   2,662   2,105

   $ 7,349 $ 6,809

Deferred tax that is expected to reverse to the year 2021 has been measured using the effective rate that will apply for the period 21.94% 
(2010: 21%). The weighted average applicable tax rate was 21.80% (2010: 18.36%).

14.  Cash ResOuRCes
     December 31, 2011                  December 31, 2010         January 1, 2010

Cash and current accounts $  38,385 $  38,862  $  46,626
Term deposits and accrued interest   164,137   38,442   47,719

    $  202,522   $  77,304  $  94,345 
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15.  DeRIVatIVes
                                                                                                                     Notional Amount                                                                               Net Fair Value                           
                                                             Within 1 year        Over 1 year        December 31,        December 31,         December 31,        December 31,        January 1, 
                                                                                                                                       2011                        2010                             2011                        2010                      2010   

Interest rate swaps used to manage interest rate risk:
Receive fixed swaps  $  –  $  439,000  $  439,000  $  725,000  $  20,493  $  7,234  $  2,590
Pay fixed swaps   –   200,000   200,000   –   606   400   (6,187)
    –   639,000   639,000   725,000   21,099   7,634   (3,597)

Other derivatives:
Interest rate caps   3,400   44,300   47,700   44,200   51   400   –
Equity linked options   550   14,344   14,894   5,795   407   300   –
   $ 3,950 $  58,644  $  62,594  $  49,995  $  458  $  700  $  –
Accrued interest   –   –  –  –   1,442   1,707   1,948

   $  3,950  $  697,644  $  701,594  $  774,995  $  22,999  $  10,041  $  (1,649)

The following table summarizes the expected cash flows of the hedged items under the derivative contracts.
                         
                                                                                                                                                                        Expected                  Less than                           1 to             Greater 
                                                                                                                                                                     cash flows                        1 year                      5 years    than 5 years

2011
Assets         $  21,234  $  7,739  $  13,495  $ –
Liabilities         2,134   1,385   749  –
Net cash inflow (outflow)         19,100   6,354   12,746   –

2010
Assets          772,086   18,732   753,354   –
Liabilities         –  –  –   –

Net cash inflow (outflow)        $  772,086  $  18,732  $  753,354  $  –

During the year the Credit Union recognized a gain of $896 (2010:$58) for ineffectiveness in cash flow hedges, which is recognized in net interest 
income in the statement of profit or loss.
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16.  lOaNs tO memBeRs
     December 31, 2011                  December 31, 2010      January 1, 2010

Residential mortgages  $  2,455,617   $  2,252,568   $ 2,356,570
Personal loans   191,968    194,140   203,542
Personal lines of credit   819,848    805,481   396,617
Commercial mortgages   1,145,430    1,092,914   971,453
Commercial loans   45,486    32,735   58,095
Commercial lines of credit   89,193    81,537   75,436
Accrued interest   8,194    7,569   7,071
     4,755,736    4,466,944   4,068,784
Allowance for credit losses
 Specific   (3,607)   (1,729)   (1,593)
 Collective   (8,495)   (10,907)   (10,290)
     (12,102)   (12,636)   (11,883)
    $  4,743,634   $  4,454,308   $  4,056,901

Allowance for credit losses         2011                   2010
     Beginning                                                                                           Ending                        Ending
     balance  Provision   Write-offs  balance  balance

Residential mortgages  $  2,681  $  500  $  (948)  $  2,233  $  2,681
Personal loans   1,934   2,100   (1,689)   2,345   1,934
Personal lines of credit   2,236   700   (899)   2,037   2,236
Commercial mortgages   3,084   250   (413)   2,921   3,084
Commercial loans   1,532   150   (299)   1,383   1,532 
Commercial lines of credit   1,169   50   (36)   1,183   1,169

    $ 12,636  $  3,750  $  (4,284)  $  12,102  $  12,636

Percentage of total loans and accrued interest                                                                                                                                                   0.25%   0.28%

Impaired loans and related allowances         2011                   2010
                                       Loan                             Specific                    Carrying                     Carrying
       balances   Allowances  Amount  Amount

Personal loans
 Residential mortgages    $  12,546  $  1,017  $  11,529  $  3,440
 Loans and lines of credit     3,510   1,169   2,341   2,204
Commercial loans
 Commercial mortgages     12,388   1,307   11,081   9,105
 Commercial loans and lines of credit     698   114   584   175

      $  29,142  $  3,607  $  25,535  $  14,924

Concentrations of credit risk
Concentrations of credit risk exist if a number of borrowers are engaged in similar economic activities or are located in the same geographic region,  
and indicate the relative sensitivity of the Credit Union’s performance to developments affecting a particular segment of borrowers or  
geographic region.

Geographic credit risk exists for the Credit Union due to its primary service area being the Lower Mainland, Fraser Valley, Kitimat, Smithers, Okanagan, 
Similkameen and Thompson areas of British Columbia. To reduce the impact of the geographic credit risk the Credit Union has 26% of its
residential mortgages insured against credit loss.
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17.  INVestmeNts
     December 31, 2011                  December 31, 2010         January 1, 2010

Investments
 Shares
  Central 1 Credit Union  $  19,441  $  11,178  $  11,227
Other    21,705   27,507   34,878
Term deposits callable or maturing in three months or more   284,145   336,299   332,513
Leased vehicles (net of accumulated amortization of 
 $18,545 (2010: $13,727))  46,718   46,456   34,945

    $  372,009  $  421,440  $  413,563

Investment in shares of Central 1 Credit Union, which is required by governing legislation and as a condition of membership in Central 1 Credit 
Union, are classified as available for sale. Typically, the Central 1 shares are not traded in an active market and accordingly the market values are 
not readily available. In addition the variability in the range for fair value estimates based on the valuation models is significant. Accordingly, the 
Credit Union’s equity investments in Central 1 are reported at their original cost of $2 (2010: $2) because the fair value cannot be measured reliably.

Amortization in respect to leased vehicles amounted to $10,420 (2010: $8,617).

18. PRemIses aND equIPmeNt

The following table summarizes the expected cash flows of the hedged items under the derivative contracts.
                         
                                                                                                                                                                                                          Leasehold                       Other    
      Land  Buildings         Improvements           Equipment   Total

Cost:
Balance at January 1, 2010      11,649    25,367    15,745    34,596  87,357
 Acquisitions       –                 1,058    981    1,242  3,281
 Disposals       (117)    (1,759)    (166)    (91)  (2,133)
Balance at December 31, 2010      11,532    24,666    16,560    35,747  88,505
Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses
Balance at January 1, 2010      –    918    5,907    29,220  36,045
 Disposals       –    (827)   (168)    76  (919)
 Depreciation       –   1,136    1,508    2,152  4,796
 Impairment losses       –    –   –    – –
Balance at December 31, 2010       –    1,227    7,247    31,448  39,922
Carrying amounts
Balance at January 1, 2010      11,649    24,449    9,838    5,376  51,312
Balance at December 31, 2010       11,532    23,439    9,313                4,299   48,583

                                                                                                                                                                                                          Leasehold                       Other    
      Land  Buildings         Improvements           Equipment   Total

Cost:
Balance at January 1, 2011       11,532    24,666    16,560    35,747  88,505
 Acquisitions       –    729    473    1,165  2,367
 Disposals       –    (280)    –    (561)  (841)
Balance at December 31, 2011      11,532    25,115    17,033    36,351  90,031
Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses
Balance at January 1, 2011       –    1,227    7,247    31,448  39,922
 Disposals       –    (24)    –    (415)  (439)
 Depreciation       –    1,229    1,403    1,578  4,210
 Impairment losses       –    –    –    –  –
Balance at December 31, 2011       –    2,432    8,650    32,611  43,693
Carrying amounts
Balance at January 1, 2011       11,532    23,439    9,313    4,299  48,583
Balance at December 31, 2011       11,532    22,683    8,383    3,740  46,338
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19. INtaNgIBle assets
                         
                                                                                                                                                                                ICBC                  Customer                          
    Goodwill  Licenses                     List                Software  Total

Cost:
Balance at January 1, 2010       13,000    7,130    2,205    9,738  32,073
 Acquisitions       –    –    –    2,355  2,355
 Disposals       –    –   –    –  –
Balance at December 31, 2010       13,000    7,130    2,205    12,093  34,428
Accumulated amortization and impairment losses
Balance at January 1, 2010       1,532    –   –    4,194  5,726
 Disposals       –   –    –    (20)  (20)
 Amortization       –    –   –    1,450  1,450
 Impairment losses       –    –    –    –  –
Balance at December 31, 2010       1,532   –    –    5,624  7,156
Carrying amounts
Balance at January 1, 2010       11,468    7,130    2,205    5,544  26,347
Balance at December 31, 2010       11,468    7,130    2,205    6,469  27,272

                                                                                                                                                                                ICBC                  Customer                          
    Goodwill  Licenses                     List                Software  Total

Cost:
Balance at January 1, 2011       13,000    7,130    2,205    12,093  34,428
 Acquisitions       –    –    –    4,219  4,219
 Disposals       (490)    –   –    (1,057)  (1,547)
Balance at December 31, 2010       12,510    7,130    2,205    15,255  37,100
Accumulated amortization and impairment losses
Balance at January 1, 2010       1,532    –   –    5,624  7,156
 Disposals       –   –    –    (500)  (500)
 Amortization       –    –   –    1,710  1,710
 Impairment losses       –    –    –    –  –
Balance at December 31, 2010       1,532   –    –    6,834  8,366
Carrying amounts
Balance at January 1, 2010       11,468    7,130    2,205    6,469  27,272
Balance at December 31, 2010       10,978    7,130    2,205    8,421  28,734

20.  OtheR assets
     December 31, 2011                  December 31, 2010         January 1, 2010

Accounts receivable $  26,000  $  23,289  $  18,006
Prepaid expenses   13,548   15,653   21,579

    $  39,548 $  38,942  $  39,585
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21.  DePOsIts FROm memBeRs
     December 31, 2011                  December 31, 2010         January 1, 2010

Demand  $  1,294,388  $  1,202,024  $  1,159,171
Term   2,569,089   2,541,308   2,424,475
Registered savings plans   697,824   648,019   575,073
Class “A” shares   6,522   7,116   7,554
Accrued interest and dividends   34,588   39,628   34,050

    $  4,602,411  $  4,438,095  $  4,200,323

Credit Union Deposit Insurance Corporation (CUDIC) guarantees all credit union deposits.

Under agreements with trustees of the registered savings plans, members’ contributions to the plans are deposited with the Credit Union at rates of 
interest determined by the Credit Union.

Class “A” shares are membership preferred and redeemable, and accordingly are classified as deposits. An unlimited number of Class “A” voting shares 
are authorized with a par value of $1.

22.  OtheR lIaBIlItIes
     December 31, 2011                  December 31, 2010         January 1, 2010

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  $  34,465  $  43,561  $  37,496
Deferred revenue   9,252   9,771   2,445
Minority interest   –   1,222   1,222

    $  43,717  $  54,554  $  41,163

23.  BORROWINgs
     December 31, 2011                  December 31, 2010         January 1, 2010

Money market loan  $  310,000  $  185,758  $  145,000
Other revolving facilities   –   74,912   –
Obligation under CMB program (Note 27)   132,139   –   –
     442,139   260,670   145,000
Accrued interest   3,729   640   1,296

    $  445,868  $  261,310  $  146,296

The maturities of the money market loans and other revolving facilities are as follows:

                   Interest rate                                             2011                         2010

January 1, 2011   1.750%  $  –  $  35,758
January 18, 2011   1.623%   –   25,000
January 18, 2011   1.948%   –   49,912
January 31, 2011   1.440%   –   25,000
October 19, 2012   2.281%   125,000   125,000
February 18, 2012   2.000%   110,000  –
May 21, 2013   2.560%   75,000   –

       $  310,000  $  260,670
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Security provided on the money market loan is an assignment of loans to members, and accounts receivable, and a demand debenture to the lender.

The Credit Union has three approved lines of credit totaling $759 million. Security for the first line of credit is as noted above. For the second line 
of credit, security is provided by a first charge against specific CMHC insured realty mortgages to a maximum of 110% of the approved credit facility.  
For the third line of credit, security is provided by a first charge against specific insured realty mortgages to a maximum of 110% of the 
outstanding balance. 

24.  equIty shaRes

The Credit Union has authorized Class “B”, “C” and “D” equity shares, which have a par value and redemption value of $1 each.

The rules of the Credit Union state that the annual redemption of class “B” ,”C” and “D” shares may, at the discretion of the Board of Directors, be 
limited to 10% of the total issued and outstanding shares.

Class “B”, “C” and “D” shares shall be entitled to dividends at such rate, payable at such time or times and either cumulative or non-cumulative, as 
the Board of Directors, in their discretion may determine before the first issue of the class of shares.

Class “B”, “C” and “D” equity shares are not guaranteed by CUDIC.

The Credit Union has issued:

     December 31, 2011                December 31, 2010                            January 1, 2010
  
Class “B” non-voting investment equity shares, 
 unlimited number authorized  $  8,634  $  9,165  $  9,683
Class “C” non-voting investment equity shares, 
 unlimited number authorized   22,455   25,444   28,256
Class “D” non-voting retirement plan equity shares, 
 unlimited number authorized   12,872   13,691   14,818

    $  43,961  $  48,300  $  52,757

25.  PeNsION aND RetIRemeNt BeNeFIts

The Credit Union provides pension benefits to employees through defined contribution, defined benefit, and supplemental retirement and multi-
employer defined benefit plans. Other post-retirement benefits including life insurance, health care, dental benefits or cash alternatives are provided 
to eligible Credit Union employees upon or after retirement.

The Credit Union funds the defined benefit plans and multi-employer defined benefit plans based on actuarially prescribed amounts. The unfunded 
supplemental retirement and non-pension benefit plans are paid directly by the Credit Union at the time of entitlement. Contributions for the 
defined contribution plan are paid by the Credit Union on an annual basis.

The accrued benefit obligation and plan assets were actuarially measured for accounting purposes as of December 31, 2011 (prior period was 
measured at December 31, 2010). The effective date of the last actuarial valuation report for funding purposes was December 31, 2011 and the 
effective date of the next required actuarial valuation report will be December 31, 2014.

                         2011         2010

Pension benefits
 Defined contribution and multi-employer plan expense    $  5,295  $  4,391
 Defined benefit plan expense     126   261

      $  5,421  $  4,652

23. BORROWINgs (continued)
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Participation in multi-employer plan (the “Plan”):

An actuarial valuation of the overall Plan was carried out as at December 31, 2009. It was determined that the overall Plan had an actuarial surplus 
(deficit) of ($34,145) using the projected unit credit method. As a result of the valuation, the contribution rates were determined to be 9.5% per 
annum for employer contributions based on the pensionable earnings of the respective participating employees and 9.3% per annum for employee
contributions for the period from January 1, 2010 to December 31, 2012.

26.  COmmItmeNts aND CONtINgeNCIes

Premises, computer services and equipment

The Credit Union has branch lease commitments for its premises extending through to 2016 and thereafter.

For computer services and equipment, the Credit Union has computer services and hardware operating leases through to 2016.

The following table summarizes the approximate operating lease payments over the next 5 years:
         Computer services
                         Premises   and equipment

2012     $  7,337  $  690
2013      6,803   284
2014      5,824   265
2015      3,641   265
2016      3,739   181
thereafter     5,116   –

legal proceedings

The Credit Union has claims and legal proceedings brought against it that arise from usual business activities. The Credit Union contests the validity 
of these claims and proceedings. While the outcome of outstanding actions cannot be predicted with certainty, it is the opinion of management that 
their resolution will not have a material effect on the Credit Union’s financial position.
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27.  seCuRItIzatIONs

The Credit Union periodically enters into agreements with Central 1 and other third parties which may include securitization of residential 
mortgages into SPE’s which issue bonds to third party investors at specified interest rates.

The Credit Union reviews transfer agreements in order to determine whether the transfers of financial assets should result in all or a portion of the 
transferred mortgages being derecognized from its consolidated statement of financial position sheet. The derecognition requirements include an 
assessment of whether the Credit Union’s rights to contractual cash flows have expired or have been transferred or whether an obligation has been 
undertaken by the Credit Union to pay the cash flows collected on the underlying transferred assets over to a third party. The derecognition 
standards also include an assessment of whether substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred.

The amount of residential mortgages, including accrued interest, that were transferred but which were not derecognized at December 31, 2011 was 
$159,098 (Dec 31, 2010: Nil, January 1, 2010: Nil.) The credit union also has recognized $132,140 (Dec 31, 2010: Nil, January 1, 2010: Nil) of secured 
borrowing relating to securitization transactions as the Credit Union did not transfer substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership, principally 
because it did not transfer prepayment, interest and credit risk of the mortgages in the securitization. The residential mortgages are categorized as 
loans to members and they are pledged as security for this secured borrowing. The weighted average interest rate on the secured borrowing is 
2.34% ( December 31, 2010: Nil%) and the borrowing matures at the same rate as the underlying mortgages.

As a result of the transactions, the credit union receives the net differential between the monthly interest receipts of the mortgages and the
interest expense on the borrowings.

         Principal amount 
Type of loan    Total principle               over 60 days past due

Residential mortgages    $  159,098   –

The secured borrowings mature as follows:

Maturity               Interest rate                  Secured borrowings

December 1, 2014     1.95%   45,555
May 1, 2016     2.65%   7,976
May 1, 2016     1.55%   14,163
June 15, 2016     2.75%   64,446

        $  132,140
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28.  INteRest Rate seNsItIVIty

Interest rate risk is the sensitivity of Credit Union’s financial position to movements in interest rates. The carrying amounts of interest sensitive assets 
and liabilities and the notional amount of swaps and other derivative financial instruments used to manage interest rate risk are presented below in
the periods in which they next reprice to market rates and are summed to show the interest rate sensitivity gap (mismatch).

December 31, 2011
                                                             Within 3 months                        4-12 months                           Over 1 year   Not interest                           Total
                                                          Principal          Rate               Principal             Rate           Principal             Rate       sensitive                                                

Assets
 Cash resources  $     180,545 1.26%  $                 –  –%  $                 –  –%  $      21,977  $       202,522
 Loans  2,371,845  3.88%  450,153  4.73%  1,926,057  4.39%  (4,421)  4,743,634
 Other –  –%  85,259  3.28%  239,049  2.80%  188,482  512,790
 
   2,552,390  3.69%  535,412  4.50%  2,165,106  4.22%  206,038  5,458,946

Liabilities
 Member deposits  1,497,437  1.78%  1,176,239  2.15%  1,120,256  2.67%  808,477  4,602,409
 Borrowings and other  254,528        2.17%                 14,686  4.01%  206,136  3.16%  21,586  496,936
   1,751,965  1.84%  1,190,925  2.17%  1,326,392  2.74%  830,063  5,099,345

Balance sheet mismatch  800,425   (655,513)   838,714   (624,025)  359,601

Derivatives, notional value
 Asset  200,000  –%  –  –%  439,000  2.72%  –  639,000
 Liability  (439,000)  1.28% – –%  (200,000)  0.93%  –  (639,000)

Net mismatch  $   561,425   $  (655,513)   $     1,077,714   $  (624,025)  $    359,601

December 31, 2010
                                                             Within 3 months                        4-12 months                           Over 1 year   Not interest                           Total
                                                          Principal          Rate               Principal             Rate           Principal             Rate       sensitive                                                

Assets
 Cash resources  $     38,441 0.54%  $                 –  –%  $                 –  –%  $      38,863  $       77,304
 Loans  2,089,204  4.03%  395,043  4.90%  1,974,716  4.64%  (4,655)  4,454,308
 Other 41,197  2.54%  86,239  3.68%  222,623  3.50%  199,148  549,207
 
   2,168,842  3.88%  481,282  4.69%  2,197,339  4.50%  233,356  5,080,819

Liabilities
 Member deposits  1,362,999  1.87%  1,262,890  2.40%  1,007,596  2.94%  804,610  4,438,095
 Borrowings and other  261,310        2.00%                           –   –%  –  –%  61,363  322,673
   1,624,309  1.85%  1,262,890  2.40%  1,007,596  2.94%  865,973  4,760,768

Balance sheet mismatch  544,533   (781,608)   1,189,743   (632,617)  320,051

Derivatives, notional value
 Asset  –  –%  –  –%  725,000  2.41%  –  725,000
 Liability  (725,000)  1.28% – –%  –  –%  –  (725,000)

Net mismatch  $   (180,467)   $  (781,608)   $     1,914,743   $  (632,617)  $    320,051
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29. FaIR Values OF FINaNCIal INstRumeNts

The following table presents approximate fair values of the Credit Union’s financial instruments, including derivatives. The fair values of financial 
assets and liabilities with fixed interest rates have been determined using discounted cash flow techniques based on interest rates being offered for
similar types of assets and liabilities with similar terms and risks as at the statement of financial position date. Fair values of other financial assets and 
liabilities are assumed to approximate their carrying value, principally due to their short term nature. Fair values of derivative financial instruments 
have been based on market price quotations.

These fair values, presented for information only, reflect conditions that existed only at the balance sheet date.

   2011 2010
       Book value  Fair value   Difference   Book value   Fair value   Difference

Assets
 Cash resources  $  202,500  $  202,600  $  100  $  77,000  $  77,000  $ –
 Loans   4,743,700   4,766,700   23,000   4,454,000   4,506,000   52,000
Investments   372,000   383,000   11,000   421,000   429,000   8,000
Other    118,000   118,000   –   116,000   116,000  –
        34,100       60,000
Liabilities
 Deposits   4,602,000   4,627,000   (25,000)   4,438,000   4,462,000   (24,000)
 Borrowing   446,000   452,000   (6,000)   261,000   261,000  –
 Other   52,000   52,000  –   58,000   58,000  –
        (31,000)       (24,000)
Derivative contracts   23,000   23,000   –   10,000  10,000   –

Fair value difference      $ 3,100     $  36,000

The fair value measurements are analyzed according to a fair value hierarchy with three levels as follows:
Level 1:  Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
Level 2:  Inputs other than quoted prices in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability either directly or indirectly;
Level 3:  Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data.

The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the fair value measurement is categorized shall be determined on the basis of the lowest level 
input that is significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety. 

No transfer has been made into or out of Level 1 and Level 2 during the year.

Financial assets at fair value December 31, 2011  Level 1  Level 2 Level 3 Total
    
Financial assets 
Derivative Financial Instruments
 Interest Rate Swaps  – 22,541 – 22,541
 Equity linked options  –  458 –  458
Financial investments available for sale
 Shares  –  24,858  –  24,858
 Retained interests in securitizations –  –  2,182  2,182
 Government bonds  10,813  –  –  10,813
 Mortgage investments –  – 5,441 5,441
   10,813  47,857  7,623  66,293

Financial liabilities –  – –  –

Financial assets at fair value December 31, 2010  Level 1  Level 2 Level 3 Total
    
Financial assets  16,385  24,741  10,967  52,093
Financial liabilities –  – –  –
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The following table reconciles the Credit Union’s Level 3 fair value measurements from December 31, 2010 to December 31, 2011:

Fair value measurements using level 3 inputs

Balance as at December 31, 2010            $  10,967
Gain (loss) included in net profit or loss or OCI            65
Purchases             –
Settlements             (3,409)
Transfers in (out)            –

Balance as at December 31, 2011            $ 7,623

30. RelateD PaRty DIsClOsuRe

Related parties of the Credit Union include subsidiaries, associates, joint ventures, post-employment benefit plans, key management personnel, 
close family members of key management personnel and entities which are controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced, or for which 
significant voting power is held, by key management personnel or their close family members.

Key management personnel are defined as those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities 
of the Credit Union including the Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, Chief Information Officer, Senior Vice President Risk Management 
and Credit, Senior Vice President People Services, Senior Vice President, Operations, Sales, and Member Experience, Senior Vice President 
Governance and Corporate Strategy, Senior Vice President Lines of Business Strategy, Senior Vice President, Marketing, President Envision 
Financial and the President Valley First.

A number of transactions were entered into with key management personnel in the normal course of business:

(a)  loans and deposits:

The Credit Union provides banking services to key management personnel and persons connected to them. Balances outstanding at December 31, 2011 
were loans of $3,621 (2010: $3,486) and deposits of $1,711 (2010: $1,436). No individual allowances for credit losses have been recognized with 
respect to these loans (2010: Nil).

(b) key management compensation:

          2011    2010
  
Salaries and short term employee benefits $  3,200 $  2,410
Post-retirement and termination benefits  641   81
    $ 3,841 $ 2,491

31. OtheR RelateD PaRty INFORmatION

At December 31, 2011, outstanding loans to directors, officers and employees of the Credit Union amounted to $148,817 (2010:$169,575).  
All such loans were granted in accordance with normal lending terms. Employee loans are recorded at their fair value in the consolidated  
statement of financial position with the difference between market values and carrying values being recognized as personnel expenses in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

The aggregate remuneration earned by directors of the Credit Union during 2011 was $582 (2010: $592).

The Credit Union has included in accounts payable and other expenses a donation of $590 (2010: $694) to the Credit Union’s charitable foundation, 
First West Foundation (“Foundation”). Certain directors of the Credit Union are directors of the Foundation.

29. FaIR Values OF FINaNCIal INstRumeNts (continued)
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32.  exPlaNatION OF tRaNsItION tO IFRs

As stated in Note 3(d), these are the Credit Union’s first consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS.

The accounting policies set out in Note 4 have been applied in preparing the consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2011, 
the comparative information presented in these consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2010 and in the preparation of 
an opening IFRS consolidated statement of financial position at January 1, 2010 (the Credit Union’s date of transition).

(a) Optional exemptions from full retrospective application elected by the Credit Union:

 The Credit Union has elected to apply the following optional exemptions from full retrospective application:

 employee benefits:
 The Credit Union has elected to recognize all cumulative unrecognized actuarial gains (losses) on employee benefit plans in the consolidated  
 statement of changes in members’ equity as at January 1, 2010. The impact of this exemption is detailed in Note 32(c)(iv) below.

 leases:
 The Credit Union has elected to apply the transitional provisions in IFRIC 4 – “Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease” as at  
 January 1, 2010 rather than making an assessment of whether there is a lease at the time of initial recognition of the contract under CGAAP. 
 There were no changes to the classification of agreements as leases.

 Business combinations:
 The Credit Union has applied the business combination election in IFRS 1. Accordingly, it has carried forward the original accounting treatment  
 for past mergers with other credit unions that took place prior to the Credit Union’s IFRS transition date of January 1, 2010 and has not adjusted  
 those transactions to comply with IFRS requirements for business combinations.

 Fair value measurement of financial assets and liabilities on initial recognition:
 The Credit Union has elected not to apply the exemption offered by IAS 39 on the initial recognition of financial instruments measured at FVTPL,  
 rather it has elected prospective application upon identification.

 Premises and equipment:
 The Credit Union has applied the deemed cost election to selected land and buildings, using the fair value as at January 1, 2010 as the deemed  
 cost as at that date.

(b) Mandatory exemptions from full retrospective application followed by the Credit Union:

 The Credit Union has applied the following mandatory exemptions from full retrospective application, as follows:

 Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities:
 The Credit Union elected to adopt the amendment providing the option to apply the IAS 39 derecognition criteria prospectively from the date of  
 Transition to IFRS. Those financial assets and liabilities derecognized prior to January 1, 2010 were not re-recognized under IFRS.

 hedge accounting:
 Hedge accounting may only be applied to pre-existing hedging relationships which meet the criteria under IAS 39 and may not be designated as  
 a hedge retrospectively. The Credit Union has determined that its existing hedging relationships qualify for hedge accounting under IFRS and no  
 adjustments were required in the measurement of hedge ineffectiveness in order to comply with IFRS requirements.

 estimates:
 IFRS 1 requires estimates made under IFRS at January 1, 2010 to be consistent with estimates made for the same date under CGAAP, unless there  
 is evidence that those estimates were in error. The Credit Union’s estimates under IFRS as at January 1, 2010 were consistent with estimates under  
 CGAAP for the same date. Therefore, this exemption had no impact on The Credit Union’s IFRS consolidated financial statements.
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(c)  Reconciliation between IFRs and CgaaP:

 The following reconciliations provide a quantification of the effect of the transition to IFRS, as follows:

 (i) Reconciliation of opening equity (January 1, 2010)
 (ii) Reconciliation of closing equity (December 31, 2010)
 (iii) Reconciliation of the consolidated statement of profit or loss (for the year ended December 31, 2010)
 (iv) Reconciliation of the consolidated statement of comprehensive income (for the year ended December 31, 2010)
 (v)  Reconciliation notes which describe the impact of IFRS on the Credit Union’s CGAAP consolidated financial statements, as contained in Part V  
  of the Handbook of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants

(i) Reconciliation of opening members’ equity as at January 1, 2010:

        CGAAP    Effect of IFRS                   IFRS
       January 1, 2010   Reclassification   transition  January 1, 2010

assets (Note 3(d))
Cash resources   $  94,345  $  –  $  – $  94,345
Derivative assets    –  4,538  –   4,538
Loans to members (Note 32(v)(a))     4,056,838   –   63   4,056,901
Investments     478,493   (64,930)   –   413,563
Premises and equipment (Note 32(v)(b))     52,169   (5,540)   4,683   51,312
Intangible assets     –   26,347   –   26,347
Deferred tax assets    –  –  –  –
Other assets     –   39,585   –    39,585
      $  4,681,845  $ –   $  4,746  $  4,686,591

liabilities (Note 3(d))
Derivative liabilities   $  –  $  6,187 $  –  $  6,187
Deposits from members     4,200,323  –  –   4,200,323
Borrowings     146,296  –  –  146,296
Deferred tax liabilities (Note 32(v)(e))    –   3,226   1,002   4,228
Other liabilities (Note 32(v)(c))     50,640   (9,413)   (64)   41,163
       4,397,259   –   938   4,398,197
 
Equity shares     52,757  –  –  52,757
Contributed surplus     57,957  –  –   57,957
Retained earnings     168,892   –  3,808   172,700
Accumulated comprehensive income     4,980   –    –    4,980
       284,586   –   3,808   288,394
  
      $  4,681,845  $  – $  4,746  $  4,686,591
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(ii) Reconciliation of closing members’ equity as at December 31, 2010:

        CGAAP    Effect of IFRS                   IFRS
            December 31, 2010    Reclassification   transition    December 31, 2010

assets (Note 3(d))
Cash resources   $  77,304  $  –  $  – $  77,304
Derivative assets    –  10,041  –   10,041
Loans to members (Note 32(v)(a))     4,453,898   –   410   4,454,308
Investments     491,226   (69,786)   –   421,440
Premises and equipment (Note 32(v)(b))     50,581  (6,454)   4,456   48,583
Intangible assets     –   27,272   –   27,272
Deferred tax assets    –  2,929  –  2,929
Other assets     –   38,942   –    38,942
      $  5,073,009  $ 2,944   $  4,866  $  5,080,819

liabilities (Note 3(d))
Derivative liabilities   $  –  $  – $  –  $  –
Deposits from members     4,437,820  275  –   4,438,095
Borrowings     261,310  –  –  261,310
Deferred tax liabilities (Note 32(v)(e))    –   5,803   1,006   6,809
Other liabilities (Note 32(v)(c))    57,413   (2,859)  –   54,554
       4,756,543  3,219   1,006   4,760,768

Equity shares     48,575  (275)  –  48,300
Contributed surplus     57,957  –  –   57,957
Retained earnings     200,251   –  3,713   203,964
Accumulated comprehensive income     9,683   –    147    9,830
       316,466   (275)   3,860   320,051
  
      $  5,073,009  $  2,944 $  4,866  $  5,080,819
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(iii) Reconciliation of the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year ended December 31, 2010

        CGAAP    Effect of IFRS                   IFRS
            December 31, 2010    Reclassification   transition    December 31, 2010
       (Note 3(d))
Interest income
 Loans to members (Note 32(v)(a))    $  184,734 $  (2,756) $  345   $ 182,323
 Cash resources and investments     24,757   88   –  24,845
       209,491   (2,668)   345   207,168
Interest expense
 Deposits     76,892  –   –   76,892
 Borrowings     3,645  –   –   3,645
       80,537   –   –   80,537
Net interest income     128,954   (2,668)   345   126,631
Provision for credit losses     3,942   -   -   3,942
       125,012   (2,668)   345   122,689
Non- interest income     83,372   (83,372)  –   – 
Fee and commissions     –    54,679   –   54,679
Other income (Note 32(v)(d))     –   28,590   (182)   28,408
       208,384   (2,771)   163   205,776
Non-interest expenses     164,785   (164,785)   –   – 
Personnel Expenses     –    89,678   –   89,678
Depreciation and amortization (Note 32(v)(b))     –   14,522   227   14,749
Other expenses     –   57,814  –   57,814
       164,785   (2,771)   227   162,241
Profit before income tax expense     43,599   –   (64)   43,535
Income tax expense (Note 32(v)(e))     10,892   –  31   10,923

Profit for the year    $  32,707  $  –  $  (95)  $  32,612

(iv)  Reconciliation of the consolidated statement of comprehensive for the year ended December 31, 2010

          CGAAP  Effect of IFRS                   IFRS
                     December 31, 2010     transition    December 31, 2010
         (Note 3(d))
Profit for the year      $  32,707  $  (95)  $  32,612
Other comprehensive income
 Cash flow hedges       4,742   –  4,742
 Fair value reserve (Note 32(v)(d))       (39)   147   108

Total comprehensive income      $  37,410  $  52  $  37,462
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(v) Reconciliation notes which describe the impact of IFRS on the Credit Union’s CGAAP consolidated financial statements, as contained in Part V of  
 the Handbook of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants.

a)  Recognition of accrued interest on non-performing loans
 Under IFRS, interest continues to accrue for non-performing loans, and any losses of such interest be included in the provision for credit losses.

                         For the year ended December 31, 2010

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
Increase in loan interest income      $  345

              January 1, 2010                 December 31, 2010

Consolidated statement of financial position
Increase in loans to members    $  63  $  410
Related tax effect     –   (76)

Increase in retained earnings    $  63  $  334

b)  land and building remeasurement
 The Credit Union has elected to take the deemed cost optional election in IFRS1, as disclosed in 32(a) above. Under CGAAP, land and buildings   
 were measured at amortized cost of $31,503. The fair value of land buildings increased by $4,683 at the date of transition.

                         For the year ended December 31, 2010

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
Increase to depreciation expense     $  227

              January 1, 2010                 December 31, 2010

Consolidated statement of financial position
Increase in premises, plant and equipment   $  4,683  $  4,456
Related tax effect     (1,002)   (930)

Increase in retained earnings    $  3,681  $  3,526
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(v)  Reconciliation notes which describe the impact of IFRS on the Credit Union’s CGAAP consolidated financial statements, as contained in Part V of  
 the Handbook of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants.

c) Retirement benefit obligations
 The Credit Union has elected to apply the employee benefits optional election in IFRS 1, as disclosed in 32(a) above. All actuarial gains and losses  
 not previously recognized through the application of the corridor method in the Credit Unions’s CGAAP statements have been recorded directly  
 in retained earnings at the date of transition to IFRS. There was no impact to the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year
 ended December 31, 2010.

              January 1, 2010                 December 31, 2010

Consolidated statement of financial position
Decrease in other liabilities    $  64  $  –
Related tax effect     –   –

Increase in retained earnings    $  64  $  –

d)  treatment of foreign exchange on available-for-sale debt securities
 The Credit Union owns US denominated available-for-sale debt securities. Under CGAAP, foreign exchange gains and losses on these debt  
 securities are recognized in OCI, whereas under IFRS foreign exchange adjustments to these debt securities are recognized in the Consolidated  
 Statement of Profit or Loss. As at January 1, 2010, cumulative fair value movements were recorded as part of the business combination (Note 2)
 as the US dollar debt securities were held by Valley First Credit Union. Accordingly, there was no impact on members’ equity as at January 1, 2010.  
 As at December 31, 2010, the amount of the reclassification of fair value movements was $147, which resulted in a decrease to other income of  
 $182 and a decrease to the income tax expense of $35.

e)  Income taxes
 Based on the impact of the IFRS adjustments, the Credit Union has recalculated deferred taxes in accordance with IAS 12 – Income Taxes. As a   
 result, an increase in the deferred tax liability has been calculated on January 1, 2010 in the amount of $1,002. As at December 31, 2010, the   
 required adjustment to deferred tax liability was an increase of $1,006 and for the year ended December 31, 2010, the impact to the Consolidated  
 Statement of Profit or Loss was an increase to income tax expense of $31.

f) Consistent with the Credit Union’s accounting policy choice under IAS 7 – Statement of Cash Flows, interest received, interest paid and taxes paid  
 have been moved into the body of the statement of cash flows, whereas they were previously disclosed as supplementary information. There are  
 no other material differences between the statement of cash flows presented under IFRS and the statement of cash flows presented under   
 previous CGAAP.
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online brokerage services are offered through Qtrade investor. Securities and securities-related 
financial planning services are offered through Qtrade Advisor. Qtrade investor and Qtrade  
Advisor are divisions of Qtrade Securities inc., member of the Canadian investor Protection 
Fund. Mutual funds and securities-related financial planning services are also offered through  
Qtrade Asset Management inc., member MFdA.

notE:  dollar figures in this annual report refer to Canadian dollars.
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